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SN Power has experienced  
a significant increase in  
profitability
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Net profit
muSD

  Key aChievemeNtS iN 2008

finAnCiAl ReSultS:  Strong financial performance with net profits of uSD 43 million

ACquiSitionS:  Acquisition of Ambuklao and Binga hydropower plants in the philippines

winD:  Construction start-up foR Sn power’s first wind farm, totoral, in Chile

integRAtion:  final integration of electroandes and Cahua hydropower companies into one robust organization  

owneRSHip:  increase in ownership stake in Himal power limited in nepAl

HeAltH AnD SAfetY:  Setting up of a new health and safety management framework

expAnSion:  establishment of new offices and build up of key capabilities to manage growth 

integRitY pRogRAmme:  integrity training delivered to all Sn power employees



ouR BuSineSS At A glAnCe
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Sn poweR in BRief

ABout tHe CompAnY
Sn power is a renewable energy company which invests in emerg-
ing markets. Sn power was established in 2002. it’s owners 
are the norwegian state entities Statkraft (60%) and norfund 
(40%). the company’s mission is to become a leading hydro-
power company in emerging markets, contributing to economic 
growth and sustainable development. 

Sn power has invested more than uSD 773 million in equity 
through acquisitions and the development of new hydropower 
projects in Asia and latin America. Currently, Sn power is 
involved in hydropower generation in the philippines, nepal, 
india and peru. Hydro and wind power projects are under con-
struction in Chile, india and the philippines. Sn power’s share 
of installed capacity on these operating plants and construction 
projects amounts to 950 mw, and an annual mean generation 
of almost 4.2 twh. A new company was established in January 
2009 to focus on hydropower development in Africa and Central 
America. 

Sn power and its subsidiaries had 475 employees worldwide 
at year-end 2008. 750 people were employed through non-
consolidated joint venture companies in which Sn power is a 
partner. more than 4 000 people were employed at the construc-
tion projects where Sn power is an investor. 

As part of the Statkraft group, Sn power has a strong industrial 
foundation that builds on more than 100 years of developing, 
owning and operating hydropower in norway. Statkraft is the 
largest renewable energy company in europe with more than 
51.5 twh in annual electricity production. in 2008, Statkraft’s 
gross operating revenues reached 25 billion noK.  

norfund is a norwegian development financial institution 
(Dfi) which invests risk capital in profitable private enterprises 
in Africa, Asia, latin America and the Balkans. through norfund, 
Sn power has access to significant experience and expertise in 
conducting investments in emerging markets.  

miSSioN

poweRing Development

viSioN

to BeCome A leADing HYDRopoweR CompAnY

in emeRging mARKetS, ContRiButing to eConomiC 

gRowtH AnD SuStAinABle Development

pRoACtive   we actively seek out opportunities, partnerships 
and technology that allow us to succeed. we are proactive in 
our approach to knowledge and technology transfer.  we look for 
ways to adapt, be innovative and learn so that we can continu-
ously improve our business model.  

exCellenCe   we are driven to excel in everything we do. we 
aim to be a leader in hydropower development and operations 
in emerging markets.  

ReSultS-DRiven   we are commercially oriented, and always 
looking to reinforce our financial, market, environmental and 
hydropower expertise. we continuously look to improve our per-
formance and our results.

integRitY   we deliver what we promise. we are honest, trans-
parent, ethical, responsible and trustworthy in our dealings with 
stakeholders, customers, partners, local communities and our 
own employees.  we seek out partners with the same values.

Core valueS



Sn poweR’S StRAtegY 
Sn power’s overall business concept is to develop, build, acquire, 
own and operate sustainable hydropower projects in emerging 
markets on commercial terms. this positions Sn power at the 
intersection of two global mega trends: the growth in emerging 
markets and in renewable energy. Sn power plans to quadruple 
its equity generation capacity from 950 mw to 4 000 mw by 
2015. this growth is envisioned through the construction of 
new hydropower projects and through the acquisition of existing 
assets. this ambition includes the development of 700 mw of 
generation capacity in Africa and Central America, in which Sn 
power will hold 51 per cent. the owners of Sn power have com-
mitted capital to fund the company’s ambitious expansion. 

Key to Sn power’s strategy is the company’s aim to be a long-
term industrial investor, capitalizing on norwegian and interna-
tional hydropower competence and expertise, and to seek a 
controlling influence in all business activities.  

it is part of Sn power’s mission to contribute to sustainable 
development through its investments. All projects we enter 
into should have minimal adverse impact on society and the 
environment, and yield positive benefits for both local com-
munities and society at large through the increased generation 
of renewable energy.

Growth target

2008 ambition 2015

Plants in operation and construction
(Sn power’s share)

installed capacity mw 950 4 000

production gwh 4 237 15 000–20 000

4
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a strong platform for 
future growth
2008 waS a ChalleNGiNG year for buSiNeSSeS all over the world, aNd whereaS maNy CompaNieS 
eNded the year iN fiNaNCial diStreSS, SN power iNCreaSed itS Net profit by uSd 6 millioN over 
2007 fiGureS to uSd 43 millioN.

meSSAge fRom tHe Ceo

Sn power Annual Report 2008 | message from the Ceo
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new investments made in 2007, in particular the acquisition 
of electroandes in peru, along with strong focus on commercial 
strategy development and continuous operational improvements, 
were key contributors to the increase in net profits.

in January 2009 some important changes to Sn power’s own-
ership structure took place. Statkraft increased its ownership 
in Sn power to 60%, reducing norfund’s share to 40%. A new 
Sn power subsidiary company dedicated to investing in renew-
able energy projects in Africa and Central America was also 
established. the new subsidiary company is owned 51% by Sn 
power and 49% by norfund. As part of the structural changes 
and as a measure of their commitment to Sn power’s growth 
strategy, our owners, Statkraft and norfund are committed to 
making regular capital injections until 2015. the new owner-
ship structure will also enable us to enhance our already strong 
industrial collaboration with Statkraft thereby increasing our 
resource base and capabilities. 

Safety aS a Priority   
Sadly, 2008 was marred for us by the tragic loss of eight people 
working at constructions sites where Sn power holds an owner-
ship stake. for us in Sn power, one accident is one too many. 
therefore, reducing the number of accidents at our construction 
sites was, and continues to be, a main focus for Sn power’s 
management. 

we are working to ensure that the necessary remedial actions 
are taken and that the construction sites in question are brought 
up to satisfactory safety standards. it goes without saying that 
we face daunting challenges with regard to cultural differences, 
skill levels, and difficult climate and terrain in the regions we 
are working. it also takes time for awareness to increase and 
consistent application of safety management systems to be 
introduced. we are however making progress, and i believe that 
our involvement in these projects is helping to improve standards 
as well as reduce the risks that are involved with developing 
large-scale infrastructure projects in emerging markets.  

2009 aNd beyoNd  
During the six years since Sn power was established, we have 
rapidly increased our footprint in the international renewable 
energy industry. we are now a significant player in the energy 
sectors in peru, Chile, and the philippines. we are the only for-
eign investor into the hydropower sector in india and the largest 
independent power producer in nepal. in 2008 we also began 
construction of our first wind park in Chile.  

our financial platform is strong and we are therefore well posi-
tioned for future growth.  while the credit crunch and financial 
crisis create obvious uncertainties, the growth in demand for 
energy continues to outpace supply in the markets where we 

are present, so that making investments there continues to be 
attractive. while the crisis affects earnings and risk exposure, 
and the financial market for project finance has become more 
difficult, i am also confident that the current crisis will open up 
new business opportunities for Sn power, which we are well 
equipped to pursue. in 2009, we will seek to bring ongoing con-
struction projects to completion, as well as to take advantage 
of acquisition opportunities that are presenting themselves in 
a number of emerging markets. 

we remain committed to the principles of the un global Com-
pact, and will continue to prioritize workers’ safety and the 
needs of local communities. in 2009, we will continue to pursue 
our mission to develop sustainable hydropower in emerging 
markets whilst contributing to economic growth and develop-
ment.  i look forward to exciting possibilities for Sn power in 
the year ahead.

Øistein Andresen
president & Ceo

We are working to ensure that 
the necessary remedial actions 
are taken and that the construction
sites in question are brought up 
to satisfactory safety standards
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Responsible hydropower
development to combat

climate change

SN power StriveS to develop SoCially aNd eNviroNmeNtally reSpoNSible hydropower 
projeCtS beCauSe we believe that reNewable eNerGy GeNerated from hydropower formS 
aN eSSeNtial part of the SolutioN to the Climate ChaNGe ChalleNGe. it iS importaNt that 
future iNter NatioNal Climate reGimeS CoNtiNue to iNCeNtivize SuCh iNveStmeNtS iNto 
emerGiNG marKetS. 

there is an increasing demand for electricity in many emerging 
markets which coincides with a significant untapped potential 
for hydropower development. Among the different renewables, 
hydropower is one that offers a solution for many countries, 
especially mountainous ones. 

investment in hydropower projects has so far been one of the 
cornerstones of the Clean Development mechanism (CDm) under 
the Kyoto protocol, although some projects have been criticized 
for not meeting quality criteria over time. it is important that such 
incentives are continued in the international climate regime, and 
that focus is put on sustainable hydropower projects that contribute 
positively to local stakeholders and the world community at large. A 
hydropower project can be registered under the Clean Development 
mechanism if it can document that it will substitute non-renewable 
energy production, from for example coal or diesel. 

for Sn power, the possibility to generate revenues from Certi-
fied emissions Reductions (CeRs) is an important investment 
enabler. Sn power has, together with partners, three large-scale 
hydropower projects registered under the Clean Development 
mechanism, and we are seeking CDm registration for another 
three hydropower projects and one wind farm. the three regis-
tered CDm projects have the potential to issue carbon credits 
amounting to more than 1.35 million tons of Co2-equivalents 
annually. if successful, our four additional projects in the CDm 
pipeline would bring the annual volume up to about 2 million 
tons of Co2.

tHe PoteNtial of HydroPower  
in europe and north America, much of the hydropower potential 
has been developed and other renewable power sources must 

be prioritized to secure energy supply while avoiding damage 
to the environment. in Africa, Asia and latin America, however, 
there are numerous opportunities for extensive and responsible 
hydropower development on a scale that is large enough to 
significantly mitigate climate change because developing these 
would give minimal emissions. 

no other renewable power source offers the same combination 
of scale, cost competitiveness and climate-friendliness as hydro-
power. Hydropower is one of the most flexible renewable energy 
sources because it can store energy in dams and complement 
other energy sources in order to optimize energy production. 
traditionally, a certain amount of hydropower has proved very 
valuable to cater for varying consumption patterns during the 
day and across seasons. today, it also represents a perfect fit 
with other renewable energy sources such as wind power. put 
simply: when the wind blows, a hydropower plant may accumulate 
water in its reservoir and use it later to run the turbines when 
the wind calms.

develoPMeNt iMPact  
As an investor, project developer and operator, it is our experi-
ence that hydropower projects can have a number of positive 
impacts on local communities and regions as well as the 
global environment. 

local communities benefit positively from responsible hydro-
power development through improved infrastructure, more jobs 
and local development. Currently, the projects in which Sn 
power has invested employ more than 5 200 people. A large 
percentage of these are based in local communities surround-
ing the projects. Surrounding regions benefit from improved 

Sn power Annual Report 2008 | Responsible Hydropower



access to electricity and better quality of living. Sn power’s 
wholly-owned and joint venture plants deliver power equivalent 
to the average electricity consumption of more than 11 million 
people around the globe. 

Sn power has shown that even large hydropower schemes can 
have very little adverse impact on the environment and local 
communities. our projects are developed in accordance with the 
ifC’s performance Standards for Social and environmental Sus-
tainability. By implementing environmental and social protection 
systems, as well as monitoring and reporting routines, we can 
reassure ourselves, the local communities and national regulatory 
agencies that our hydropower developments are sustainable. 

Sn power will also demonstrate the social and environmental 
performance of its projects against the criteria set in the inter-
national Hydropower Association’s Sustainability protocol.

water MaNageMeNt  
water is essential to life. But clean fresh water is scarce, 
especially in the developing world. global water supplies are 
expected to be constrained in coming decades because of 
global climate change, population increases and decreased 
rain-fall in sub-tropical regions. the intergovernmental panel 
on Climate Change (ipCC) has concluded that climate change 
affects the function and operation of existing water infrastruc-

tures – including structural flood defences, drainage and irriga-
tion systems – as well as water management practices.

Reservoirs have an important role to play in water management 
as they may serve important purposes such as flood control, 
irrigation, recreation and drinking water, as well as storing 
water for generation of renewable energy. 

About 70 per cent of global fresh water is used for agriculture. in 
some countries this figure is as high as 90 per cent. Hydropower 
reservoirs can manage irrigation and at the same time help to 
control floods. A good example is the magat reservoir in the 
philippines . in a country prone to variable seasonal weather rang-
ing from droughts to tropical cyclones, the magat reservoir contrib-
utes to ensuring reliable water distribution to 85,000 hectares of 
rice fields and manages seasonal floods to protect settlements 
and infrastructure downstream. the magat hydropower plant, in 
which Sn power is a part owner, also uses the same water to 
produce electricity equivalent to the average electricity consump-
tion of more than 1.5 million people in the philippines.  

As the effects of climate change are projected to be fiercer and 
with more unpredictable weather patterns and floods, the impor-
tance of water management will only increase in the future. As 
a responsible hydropower developer, Sn power will take these 
aspects into account when developing hydropower projects.

12 | 13



Safety as a number one priority 

we aim to meet the same high international safety standards 
at all construction sites and in our operating plants. we recog-
nize that this is a challenge given the nature of our business 
and that focus on health and safety in emerging markets is 
not always strong. the working environment and cultures sur-
rounding construction projects where we are involved may not 
be accustomed to safety considerations. A case in point is 
the unsafe traffic culture in many emerging markets. in addi-
tion, run-of-river hydropower projects are often located in rug-
ged terrain, with steep hillsides and harsh weather conditions 
which increase the safety risks and make it even more vital to 
integrate high safety standards in all phases of a project.   

iMProviNg our HealtH aNd Safety PerforMaNce   
tunnel work and transportation represent the highest safety 
risks on our projects, and have resulted in fatal accidents. 
Risk assessments and audits have been undertaken and 
several measures have been implemented to reduce the 
identified risks. examples include securing roads, improving 
transportation procedures and vehicle controls, training driv-
ers and securing hillsides against landslides and avalanches. 
At the Allain Duhangan site in india, Sn power has initiated a 
full reorganization and strengthening of the project’s health 
and safety management systems and procedures. interna-
tional experts have been assigned to the project in order to 
transfer international best practices and train local project 
management.  

Safety audits and improvement plans have been discussed 
in detail by Sn power’s management and Board of Directors, 
both of which devote constant attention to health and safety 
performance.

in addition to on-site safety measures, Sn power works system-
atically to improve health and safety competence and adher-
ence to safe work practices throughout the organization. Key 
initiatives in 2008 include:

  introduction of a new project management system that 
includes comprehensive health and safety requirements 
throughout project development including contractor and 
supplier requirements. 

  A health and safety design specification for new hydro-electric 
power plants has been developed. 

  Health and safety guidelines are being developed to ensure 
operational readiness when ongoing construction projects in 
Chile and india are completed and enter into production in 
2009 and 2010 respectively. A common system for the report-
ing, analysis and follow-up of incidents is being introduced. 

  Sn power has issued a new health, safety and security policy 
for business travel for company employees

  Sn power’s emergency response system has been improved 
and implemented and training has been provided for key 
personnel.

aS aN iNveStor iN larGe aNd Complex hydropower CoNStruCtioN projeCtS iN emerGiNG 
marKetS , we have experieNCed that implemeNtiNG hiGh Safety StaNdardS iN differeNt worKiNG  
eNviroNmeNtS aNd CultureS iS a ChalleNGe. improviNG health aNd Safety StaNdardS iS at the 
top of our aGeNda aS we CoNtiNue to Grow.

Sn power Annual Report 2008 | Health and Safety



New key PerforMaNce iNdicatorS iNtroduced iN 2008 
in 2008, Sn power introduced four key performance indicators relating 
to health and safety. these include the total Recordable injury frequ-
ency Rate (tRi rate), which  is defined as the total number of work-
related injuries resulting in fatality, sick leave, medical treatment or 
restricted work per one million hours worked. the results for 2008 for 
operating plants were better than target. the tRi rate for construction 
projects was better than target, but did not include the Allain Duhangan 
project where reliable reporting was only available at the end of the year. 
over time, we aim to improve our targets, and work to achieve a tRi rate, 
as well as other parameters, consistent with world-class standards. 

there were no major breaches of environmental rules or permits in 
Sn power’s subsidiaries or in joint venture construction projects or 
operating plants in 2008. 

Key performance indicator targets and results

actual 2008
Goal 
2008

actual 
2007

tRi rate – operations 4 4 <8 n/A

tRi rate – projects 161 4 <20 n/A

major environmental Breaches 0 4 0 0

fatal injury frequency 9 , 0 5

1. the Allain Duhangan project has been excluded because of unreliable reporting of data, 
but is included in 2009.

allaiN duHaNgaN ProJect Site | iNdia 
two subcontractor workers were taken by an avalanche in the project 
area during leisure hours

four people were fatally injured in transport related accidents

la Higuera ProJect Site | cHile 
one person was fatally injured when a bus was hit by a falling boulder 
during heavy rainfall

la coNflueNcia ProJect Site | cHile 
one person was fatally injured when the truck he was operating 
turned over

fAtAl ACCiDentS At ConStRuCtion SiteS in 2008
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Sn poweR’S loCAtionS
SoutH AmeRiCA

SoutH ASiA

SoutHeASt ASiA

AfRiCA AnD CentRAl AmeRiCA
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South 
american 
markets 
attractive 
despite 
financial 
crisis

nilS m.HuSeBY
ExEcutivE vicE PrEsidEnt south AmEricA

“ i believe South ameriCa offerS Great Growth opportuNitieS for SN power, aS Several of 
the eCoNomieS iN the reGioN Need more eleCtriCity to SuStaiN eCoNomiC Growth deSpite the 
impaCt of the Global fiNaNCial dowNturN,” SayS NilS m. huSeby, exeCutive viCe preSideNt 
of SN power’S South ameriCa buSiNeSS.

SoutH AmeRiCA

Sn power Annual Report 2008 | Sn power’s locations | South America



South America plays a key role in Sn power’s ambitious growth 
plans toward 2015. Half of the company’s target of quadrupling 
its portfolio of operating assets to 4000 mw during the next six 
years is expected to come from growth through acquisitions and 
new hydropower developments in the South American markets. 

in addition to new growth initiatives, top priorities in 2009 
include the completion of the la Higuera project in Chile, as 
well as operational improvements following the successful inte-
gration of the electroandes and Cahua companies in peru. the 
construction phase for the la Higuera hydropower plant and the 
totoral wind farm will be completed and the plants will begin to 
generate renewable energy.  

coNStraiNtS aNd oPPortuNitieS  
from their base in Santiago, Chile, Huseby and his team are 
carefully monitoring the effects of the financial crisis on the 
South American markets. in the short term, the electricity sector 
is expected to experience lower growth in demand and reduced 
electricity prices, as fossil fuels have become cheaper. 

“ in the short to medium term, the financial crisis will impact Sn 
power’s ability to finance and develop new projects. However, in 
the long term, we think that hydropower will continue to represent 
an important part of the generation matrix for all these countries 
and that the impact of the current crisis will not be critical,” nils 
m. Huseby says, adding that good acquisition opportunities will 
emerge as other players are now looking to re-structure their 
current operations and investment portfolios. 

“we have the capital and the resources to pursue new business 
opportunities in the wake of the financial crisis,” Huseby says.

Sn power’s current South America portfolio consists of projects 
and operations in Chile and peru, as well as business develop-
ment activities in Brazil and Colombia. 

Chile has a stable regulatory and institutional framework and 
offers a predictable climate for long-term investments, whereas 
peru has seen tremendous growth in the past few years and 
is set to grow further. Both Chile and peru have topographical 
conditions similar to those of norway, allowing Sn power to 
leverage and build on existing expertise. 

Brazil has been chosen as a focus area due to its large size 
and growth potential in the renewable energy sector.  the regu-
latory reforms adopted during the past 10 years have made 
the market more predictable, creating an efficient business 
environment. Colombia could also offer interesting opportuni-
ties for Sn power because of the hydropower potential, the 
improvements in the security situation and the well-developed 
regulatory framework. 

coNtributiNg to SuStaiNability  
in addition to reaching commercial targets, Huseby stresses the 
importance of investments positively impacting society through 
the production of clean energy. Stakeholder dialogue and com-
munity programs are designed to provide a long-lasting, sustain-
able development impact in the local communities. 

“management of environmental and stakeholder issues is a 
core element of Sn power´s business model and we apply the 
same principles and standards wherever we go. it is important for 
business interests to be aligned with those of society,” Huseby 
concludes. 

key 2008 acHieveMeNtS  

“ i am very proud of the great work done by our team in peru to 
integrate the electroandes business that we acquired at the end 
of 2007 with our Cahua business. we have managed to form a 
strong team in peru. they have been successful in bringing the 
company forward and have achieved excellent financial results 
in 2008,” he says. 

Huseby also compliments the staff of tinguiririca energía, the 
50/50 joint venture Sn power has together with pacific Hydro. 

“ they brought the Colmito back-up plant into operation in 
August last year, thus marking the first entry into operation 
for Sn power in Chile. they did this at the same time as the 
construction of the la Higuera and la Confluencia hydropower 
plants was brought forward, despite the continuing challenges 
posed by the la Higuera project,” Huseby adds. 

the Sn power Chile staff brought Sn power’s first wind project 
to construction start in 2008. the totoral wind farm is also 
the first project-financed merchant wind farm in latin America 
and has been developed in record time. 

“ i consider this a great accomplishment given the challenging 
financial environment at the end of 2008. i think that this project 
underlines Sn power´s commitment to green energy and sustain-
able development in an excellent way,” Huseby concludes.

We have the capital and the
resources to pursue new business
opportunities in the wake of the
financial crisis
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totorAl wind fArm construction
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SN power has been present in Chile since 2004, 
and is currently engaged in the construction and 
development of renewable energy projects through 
joint venture companies with local and international 
partners.

tiNguiririca eNergía  
Sn power and Australian-based pacific Hydro limited have 
two hydropower projects under construction in the tinguiririca 
valley, 250 km southeast of the capital Santiago. the 50/50 
joint venture is managed by the tinguiririca energía company. 
Construction of the la Higuera plant started in october 2005. 
this plant will have an installed capacity of 155 mw and a 
mean annual generation capacity of 728 gwh when it becomes 
operational towards the end of 2009. 

Construction of the 156 mw la Confluencia plant started in 
2007 and it is expected to start operations in 2010. this 
plant will contribute 645 gwh to the Chilean Central grid. the 
project was hit by heavy rainfall and floods in may 2008, and 

this caused significant damage which may delay completion 
of the project.  

the power produced by la Higuera and la Confluencia will be 
sold through long-term power purchase Agreements with local 
distribution companies and in the spot market. 

to mitigate the market risks associated with dry periods, tin-
guiririca energía constructed a 58 mw dual fuel back-up turbine 
called Colmito in 2008. the Colmito plant is located in central 
Chile.  Due to high fuel prices and normal rainfall during the 
winter the unit has hardly been dispatched, and generated 
most revenues from capacity payments in 2008.  

During 2008, health and safety has been a top priority for the 
tinguiririca energía management, and efforts have been made 
to further strengthen systems and practices. 

trayeNko  
Hidroeléctrica trayenko, 80%-owned by Sn power and 20%-owned 
by its Chilean partner Centinela, continued developing four new 
hydropower projects in the los Rios Region in Southern Chile.  pri-
ority is being placed on the development of the 392 mw maqueo 
project, which is a run-of-river plant designed mainly as an under-
ground facility. the Social and environmental impact Assessment 
for the project was submitted for approval in the first quarter of 
2009, and project development will continue towards achieving 
financial close and construction start after 2010. 

to ensure that local stakeholders are properly informed and 
consulted about the process of designing and developing the 
hydropower project, Sn power has initiated an extensive open 
dialogue process with various local institutions and individu-
als. Special focus has been placed on taking the indigenous 
mapuche indian culture into account. 

NorviNd  
Sn power is developing its first wind farm through the spe-
cial purpose company norvind, 80%-owned by Sn power and 
20%-owned by Centinela. the 46 mw totoral wind farm is located 
approximately 300 km north of Santiago in a semi-desert area 
on the coast. project construction started in 2008 and the 
wind farm is expected to enter into operation during 2009 with 
a mean annual generation capacity of 100 gwh.

Chile

2006 2007 2008

gross generation capacity under 
construction, mw 155 311 415

employees 13 26 45

our business in

Equity invEstmEnts sn PowEr  
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2008200720062005
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hydroPowEr fAcilitiEs in PEru 
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peru

SN power has been established in peru since 2003 
when the company acquired 100 per cent of the shares 
in Cahua S.a., a peruvian hydropower company. in 
2007, SN power further strengthened its presence in 
the country, and became the fifth largest electricity pro-
ducer through the acquisition of electroandes S.a.

oPeratiNg PlaNtS  
following the acquisition of electroandes S.A., a process was 
undertaken to consolidate the management structure and opera-
tions of Sn power in peru. this was finalized in 2008, and the 
two operating subsidiaries Cahua S.A. and electroandes S.A. are 
now run as an integrated business under the Sn power brand. 
the main focus has been on developing a common platform 
based on shared values and principles. A strong and efficient 
organization has been built up, set for the operation and main-
tenance of existing plants and for developing new business 
opportunities. Sn power peru has eight hydropower facilities with 
a total installed capacity of 270 mw. four of these are former 
electroandes plants, which were built to supply energy for the 

mining sector, starting in the early 1900s. these are located in 
the provinces of Junin and Yauli in the Central Andean region, 
at altitudes of up to 4,000 meters above sea level.

the Cahua plants are scattered around the country, and produce 
energy for the main grid. Sn power has undertaken numerous 
activities to optimize commercial and technical operations, such as 
refurbishment and the reorganization of resources at the plants.  

Sn power peru also holds a number of both permanent and 
temporary concessions for the development of greenfield hydro-
power projects in peru. the most advanced project is the 168 
mw Cheves project which will have an expected mean annual 
generation capacity of 837 gwh if it is developed.

Sn power peru is focused on being a responsible citizen, and 
supports a number of local community initiatives, ranging from 
education and health to livelihood development and environmental 
management.

Arcata hydropower facility is located in the Arequipa region in 
southern peru. it consists of four plants with 5 mw of total 
installed capacity. 

Cahua is a 43 mw hydropower plant located about 200 km north 
of lima on the pativilca River. 

gallito Ciego is a 38 mw hydropower plant located 600 km north 
of lima. this plant is situated downstream of the gallito Ciego 
dam, which is primarily used for irrigation purposes. the dam is 
operated by the water authorities. 

pariac hydropower facility consists of five plants with a combined 
capacity of 4.9 mw. pariac is located in peru’s Ancash region just 
outside the city of Huaraz and takes water from the pariac River. 

la oroya is a hydropower plant located in the Yauli province, at a 
height of 3,694 meters above sea level. the plant, which entered 
into operation in 1914, consist of three generation units with a 
total capacity of 9 mw. 

malpaso is a hydropower plant located in the Yauli province, at a 
height of 3,870 metres above sea level. the plant has four units 
and a total installed capacity of 54.40 mw.

pachachaca is a hydropower plant located in the Yauli province, 
at a height of 4,031 metres above sea level. the plant, which 
entered into operation in 1917, consist of three generation units 
with a total capacity of 9 mw.

Yaupi is a 108 mw hydropower plant located in the province of 
Junin. this is the largest hydropower facility in Sn power peru’s 
portfolio.

our business in

opeRAting RevenueS  
MUSD

2006 2007 2008

generation capacity mw 115 270 270

Annual generation gwh 500 768 1 598

employees 99 303 308
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SoutH ASiA

meeting 
South asia’s 
energy 
demand 
through 
hydropower
iN South aSia, SN power iS foCuSed oN tappiNG iNto the hydropower poteNtial iN the  
Sub-himalayaN reGioN to Serve the GrowiNG demaNd for power iN iNdia aNd Nepal. beCauSe of 
the huGe poteNtial iN the reGioN, a SiGNifiCaNt part of the CompaNy’S overall Growth tarGet 
of 4 000 mw of iNStalled CapaCity by 2015 iS eNviSioNed to be delivered throuGh Growth iN the 
South aSiaN reGioN, with a partiCular foCuS oN iNdia.

nADiA SooD
ExEcutivE vicE PrEsidEnt south AsiA
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iNdia  
india has seen annual increases in gDp of 7–8% during the last 
years, and is the growth engine in South Asia. while other emerg-
ing markets are suffering serious slow-downs as a result of the 
financial crisis, progress is expected to continue in india, where 
even conservative forecasts predict a 6.6 per cent gDp growth in 
2010. Currently, the annual energy deficit reaches 14 per cent of 
total demand, and is expected to mount further.  Approximately 
400 million indians still lack access to electricity. in an attempt 
to bridge this gap, the indian government has committed to facili-
tate the development of 80,000 mw of power by 2012. this will 
require approximately inR 1,031,600 crores (uSD 200 billion) 
of new investments in generation, transmission and distribution 
and cannot be met solely by the indian capital markets. 

“ foreign investment will be key for the government’s impressive 
plans to significantly boost power generation. Sn power is the only 
foreign investor in the indian hydropower sector and this gives us 
a strong foothold for further expansion,” nadia Sood says.  Sn 
power has invested in a project portfolio of approximately 500 
mw currently in operation or under development in india. 

“our growth targets are ambitious. if we meet them, 25 million 
more indians would get access to electricity. this would be a 
momentous contribution to development,” Sood says. 

“ the growth opportunities in india are unquestionable. Sn power 
is well placed to take part in filling the energy gap by investing in 
renewable sources which will be key to sustainable development. 
we have a presence in india, a solid capital base and significant 
experience from norwegian and international hydropower develop-
ment to bring to the table,” she adds.

NePal  
nepal has vast untapped hydropower resources, and an ambitious 
plan to develop 10,000 mw of hydropower capacity by 2020.  

“nepal can play a role as a swing producer in the region, espe-
cially towards india, which is heavily dependent on coal-based 
energy. this is the same role as norway is playing towards europe. 
Hydropower from nepal can be highly flexible,” Sood explains. 
She adds that in the summer months india needs more energy 
whereas nepal needs less, and vice versa. this interconnection 
between the markets gives mutual benefits. 

Sn power is planning to develop new hydropower projects in 
nepal where power will be exported to india. “ Although nepal 
is striving for political stability, its current investment climate is 
quite uncertain. nepal is on its way to formalizing a number of 
regulations and policies that will be critical for attracting foreign 
investors. this development is pivotal for our final investment 
decisions,” Sood says. 

key acHieveMeNtS iN 2008  
A key 2008 achievement for the South Asia business was the 
signing of a memorandum of understanding with the tata power 
Company ltd to explore the possibility of jointly developing hydro-
power projects in india and nepal. the parties are targeting a 
total generation capacity of 4 000 mw by 2020. tata power’s 
industrial strength, experience in power evacuation and under-
standing of South Asian markets, combined with Sn power’s 
expertise in hydropower development, will position the partners 
to become a formidable player in South Asia. 

“ Joining forces with a company that shares the same princi-
ples and values that are core to Sn power is an extraordinary 
privilege,” Sood says. 

otherwise in india, the follow-up of Allain Duhangan hydro-
power project has been a main priority for our india team in 
2008. the project, in which Sn power has a minority stake, 
has experienced construction challenges as well as several 
fatal accidents. Sn power’s South Asia team has been work-
ing extensively to ensure that a satisfactory health and safety 
management system and adequate procedures are being 
implemented.  

“ we are doing the maximum to ensure that the people work-
ing at Allain Duhangan have a safe workplace, and that we 
avoid further accidents during the last phase of construction,” 
Sood says. 

the malana power plant, which has been operational since 
2001, reached its best year of production in 2008 after a 
capacity upgrade. 

in nepal, Sn power continued to build up a core staff to under-
take business and project development. the team in nepal suc-
cessfully acquired a licence to develop the 50 mw Kirne power 
plant which would double the company’s generation portfolio in 
the country. the Khimti i power plant had the highest availability 
and production in its history of commercial operation. 

Sn power was also granted a survey license to develop the 600 
mw tamakoshi iii project. once constructed, this project would 
almost double nepal’s total installed capacity and would con-
stitute the largest single foreign investment in the country.

PrioritieS for 2009  
in 2009, the South Asia team will be actively working on pursu-
ing acquisition and development opportunities together with 
tata power ltd; finalizing the Allain Duhangan hydro project 
and starting operations by the end of the year; continuing to 
work on our greenfield projects in nepal and maintaining our 
focus on health and safety. Sn power will also follow closely 
developments in Bhutan in order to be positioned for potential 
hydropower investments in the country.
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tHe kHiMti 1 PlaNt  
As a majority owner of Hpl, Sn power is the operator of the 
Khimti i hydropower plant which supplies almost 10 per cent 
of nepal’s total electricity output.

in 2008, Sn power increased its shareholding in Hpl from 
50.4 to 57.1 per cent as the two minority shareholders, ge 
energy (norway) AS and Alstom norway AS, decided to divest 
their shareholdings. in addition to ensuring stable and reliable 
operation of the hydropower plant, Hpl is also engaged in sev-

eral community development programs in the area surrounding 
Khimti. these include the rural electrification of over 8 000 
households, community managed small hydropower generation, 
support for irrigation and drinking water projects, and operation 
of a local school for 400 children and a clinic catering to more 
than 12 000 local patients annually. Hpl is currently collaborat-
ing with unDp through the Khimti neighborhood Development 
project to incorporate a community mobilization approach in the 
local development programs. 

tHe kirNe HydroPower ProJect  
in november 2008, Hpl was granted a survey license to expand 
Khimti i by adding 50 mw of generation capacity in a new plant 
called the Kirne Hydropower plant.  this plant will use the same 
water conveyance system as Khimti i, but will be a separate 
entity. Currently, Khimti 1 only uses about half of the avail-
able water in the headrace tunnel during the wet season. Kirne 
Hydropower plant will utilize the additional flow and the invest-
ment will nearly double the wet season energy production with 
a minimum of negative environmental impacts. the project is 
in an early feasibility stage.  

tHe taMakoSHi HydroPower ProJect  
in 2008, Sn power nepal continued project concept studies, feasi-
bility studies and environmental and Social impact Assessment of 
the 207 mw tamakoshi ii and the 275 mw tamakoshi iii projects 
which were granted survey licenses in 2007. the tamakoshi River 
originates in the higher Himalayan region of tibet.

Sn power was recently given permission to merge the tamakoshi ii 
and tamakoshi iii projects into a single project, tamakoshi iii, with 
a capacity of approximately 600 mw. A revised license has been 
issued by the government, and feasibility studies are progressing 
on schedule and will be completed by 2009. once operational, 
the estimated 2 500 gwh generated by tamakoshi iii will be 
transmitted partly through the national grid and partly through a 
transmission line directly connected to the northern-indian grid.  

As in all Sn power projects, taking the social and environmen-
tal aspects of project development into consideration from an 
early stage is key. throughout 2007 and 2008, Sn power has 
worked closely with national and local stakeholders to ensure 
that community concerns are integrated during project planning 
and that a plan for sustainable local development is developed.  
this work has translated into the tamakoshi vision – a compre-
hensive community development approach in tamakoshi iii’s 
host communities.

SN power entered Nepal in 2006 through the transfer 
of Statkraft’s majority share in himal power limited 
(hpl). SN power and hpl are currently carrying out 
project development and feasibility studies for an 
expansion of the Khimti 1 plant. in addition, SN power 
is well underway with the development of the 600 mw 
tamakoshi iii project.  all projects are located in the 
dolakha district of eastern Nepal.

2006 2007 2008

generation capacity mw 60 60 60

Annual generation gwh 370 396 372

employees* 50 52 60

*total employees, Sn power nepal and Hpl

Nepal
opeRAting RevenueS  
MUSD

our business in
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india

SN power entered the indian power market in 2004 
when it acquired 49 per cent of the shares in malana 
power Company limited (mpCl) where indian lNj 
bhilwara Group is the majority owner. SN power is 
the only foreign investor into the hydropower sector 
in india, and sets out to expand its business in the 
country.    

in february 2008, Sn power reinforced its presence in india 
when the norwegian prime minister officially opened Sn power’s 
permanent office in Delhi. this has been followed by building 
up a staff of indian and norwegian professionals.

to further business expansion in india and the South Asia region, 
Sn power signed a memorandum of understanding with tata 
power Corporation in 2008 to jointly develop hydropower projects 
in india and nepal. 

MalaNa HydroPower PlaNt  
the malana hydropower plant in the Kullu valley was commis-

sioned in 2001 and was one of the first private independent 
power producers to be operational in india. in 2008, the plant’s 
installed generation capacity was increased from 86 mw to 108 
mw by changing runners. the power generated by the malana 
plant is sold into the northern grid on a merchant basis. the 
plant has shown a steady increase in annual generation, which 
contributes towards the power deficit in india.  

allaiN duHaNgaN HydroPower PlaNt  
mpCl is also developing the Allain Duhangan hydropower plant 
in Kullu, Himachal pradesh. Construction of the 192 mw run-of-
river plant started in 2005, and the first phase of the plant is 
expected to become operational in 2009. the plant will take water 
from the Allain and Duhangan rivers which carry a combination 
of glacial snow melt and monsoon rains, and channel it through 
12.5 km of tunnels to an underground power house. the plant 
is expected to have an annual mean output of 800 gwh when it 
becomes fully operational in 2010. 

once operational, Allain Duhangan will be a merchant power 
plant with short-term power purchase Agreements, feeding 
electricity into the northern regional grid of india. the project 
is the largest hydropower project registered under the Clean 
Development mechanism to generate carbon credits to date. 
it is approved for the generation of credits corresponding to 
annual reductions of 395 000 tons of Co2.

the Allain Duhangan construction project has contributed sig-
nificantly towards boosting local employment, increasing local 
economic activities and supporting infrastructure and community 
development projects.  

our business in

malana power Company 2006 2007 2008

generation capacity mw 86 86 108

Annual generation gwh 309 337 365

employees 706 642 567

opeRAting RevenueS  

200820072006
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eRiK Knive
ExEcutivE vicE PrEsidEnt southEAst AsiA

energy 
demand 
creates 
investment 
opportunities 
in Southeast 
asia

SoutHeASt ASiA

the philippiNeS repreSeNtS the CorNerStoNe of SN power’S SoutheaSt aSia StrateGy aNd 
provideS a platform for further expaNSioN iN the reGioN. “our SuCCeSSful partiCipatioN iN 
the philippiNeS’ privatizatioN of the eNerGy SeCtor iS importaNt for the CouNtry’S eCoNomy 
aNd haS reSulted iN profitable iNveStmeNtS for SN power,” SayS eriK KNive, exeCutive viCe 
preSideNt for SoutheaSt aSia.
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together with Aboitiz equity ventures, Sn power has invested more 
than uSD 1.2 billion in the philippines’ renewable energy market 
during the past three years, turning the joint venture into the larg-
est privately-held renewable energy company in the country. 

“our achievements in the philippines illustrate that by teaming 
up with the right local partner with complementary competence 
we deliver on our key goal: powering Development,” erik Knive 
says. He heads Sn power’s Southeast Asia activities from the 
regional office in Singapore, from which Sn power coordinates 
activities for the company’s Asia business in addition to providing 
global support functions.  

Southeast Asia sees a growing disparity between energy demand 
and new energy investments. to meet Asia’s growing energy 
demand of 2.8 per cent annually, the international energy Agency 
calls for cumulative investments in energy-supply infrastructure of 
more than uSD 7.3 trillion by 2030. the power sector is expected 
to account for 52 per cent of these investments.

“ the population growth continues to accelerate and we intend to 
meet rising demand by establishing renewable energy production 
and reducing Asia’s dependency on fossil fuels such as coal,” 
Knive explains, adding that Sn power’s experience from norway 
has proven valuable in the philippines. 

Deregulation of the energy markets is required to encourage 
investments. “ if political and investment frameworks are not 
changed, many of the emerging markets in Asia will be facing a 
serious energy crisis. in fact, some of them already do. the coun-
tries would benefit from deregulated markets and private partici-
pants to push the electricity price down. this would be profitable 
both for investors and for the local consumers,” Knive says. 

even though Sn power’s investments have been successful both 
in terms of local development progress and return on investment, 
it is difficult to secure project financing in today’s market. “Sn 
power is fortunate to have equity to launch new projects, but we 
also seek to team up with international and local financiers and 
this has become more challenging,” Knive says. 

2009 targetS  

“our main target in 2009 is to deliver the Ambuklao rehabilitation 
on time and on budget. in addition, we aim to optimize existing 
projects, to deliver on our commitments to local communities 
and to establish a foothold in one other Southeast Asian market. 
we continuously look for interesting projects and solid partners 
in countries which fall within our Southeast Asian strategy, most 
importantly vietnam and laos,” Knive states. 

Sn power’s participation in the wholesale electricity Spot market 
in the philippines has confirmed the company’s market expertise 

and left the company better prepared to take on the risks involved 
in market participation throughout the world. Knive therefore 
seeks deregulated markets for further investments. 

key 2008 acHieveMeNtS  
A key achievement for the Sn power group in 2008 was the suc-
cessful takeover of the Ambuklao and Binga hydropower plants 
by Sn Aboitiz power and the start-up of rehabilitation work. it was 
the first time banks had taken market risk in a major rehabilitation 
project in Southeast Asia. Ambuklao and Binga had no off-taker 
contracts and all of the electricity generated is traded on the 
wholesale electricity Spot market. 

An equally important accomplishment was the successful inte-
gration of the existing employees at Ambuklao and Binga into 
the Sn Aboitiz power organization. Sn Aboitiz power also saw 
the full effects of magat integration where 98% of the previous 
workforce was retained and new and old employees continue to 
learn from each other.

As a responsible citizen of philippine society, Sn power adds to 
local communities in terms of increased local taxes and support 
to community projects. 

“ i am perhaps most proud of the rapid positive progress of our 
host communities. they enjoy increased national wealth tax and 
real property tax, as well as benefits from the fixed amount of 1 
centavo per kwh we pay to the authorities to be distributed back 
to promote host communities. employment opportunities are also 
up; the Ambuklao rehabilitation project will employ one thousand 
people of whom 70–80% are local citizens,” Knive states. 

Another milestone was the attainment of a Special use Agreement 
in protected Areas (SApA) which Sn Aboitiz power had to obtain 
from the Department of environment and natural Resources due 
to the special character of the land that Ambuklao and Binga are 
located on. it was the first time a SApA had been issued, and 
together with the government Sn Aboitiz power created a tool for 
the effective utilization of public land. 

“ this process brought us close to the local communities and to 
the indigenous people of ibaloy who are living in the Ambuklao 
and Binga watershed forest reserve,” Knive says.

Our achievements in the Philippines  
illustrate that by teaming  up with 
the right local partner with comple-
mentary competence  we deliver on 
our key goal: Powering Development
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mAgAt, AmbuklAo And bingA hydroPowEr PlAnts
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Magat HydroPower PlaNt  
the 360 mw magat hydropower plant was acquired by Sn Aboitiz 
power in 2007 and is the largest hydropower plant in the phil-
ippines and the major power producer on luzon.  the power 
generated by the plant is traded on the philippine wholesale 
electricity Spot market and contributes to ensuring a stable sup-
ply of renewable electricity generation into the luzon grid.

the main purpose of the magat dam, which is owned and oper-
ated by the irrigation authorities, is to store water for the irriga-

tion of almost 85,000 hectares of rice fields in the region. the 
dam also plays an important role in flood regulation. in 2008, 
Sn Aboitiz power entered into cooperation with pAgASA, the 
philippine flood control authority, and the norwegian Agency for 
Development Cooperation (noRAD) to develop a flood forecast-
ing and warning system for the river basin. the upgrade project 
is envisioned to prevent loss of lives and livelihoods during flood 
seasons, and also to maximize the economic use of water to 
further improve irrigation for thousands of farmers downstream 
of the magat dam.

the local communities around magat benefit from Sn Aboitiz 
power’s presence through a significant increase in tax revenues 
and through the establishment of community support schemes. 
one successful initiative is the Speed up lagawe project, which 
involves a chain of strategic activities that has led to the produc-
tion of 50,000 Arabica coffee seedlings and their distribution 
to about 300 farmers in the lagawe community. this project 
provides a sustainable livelihood for indigenous communities 
while at the same time supporting the sustainability of the magat 
watershed, which is important for hydropower generation.

aMbuklao aNd biNga HydroPower PlaNtS  
Sn Aboitiz power achieved a second important milestone in July 
2008 through the acquisition of the Ambuklao and Binga hydropower 
plants located in the Cordillera mountains of Benguet province. 

the 75 mw Ambuklao and 100 mw Binga are among the oldest 
hydropower plants in the philippines, commissioned by the philip-
pines’ national power Corporation in 1956 and 1960 respectively. 
for this reason, Sn Aboitiz power launched full-scale rehabilitation 
plans for both plants immediately after take-over. 

Ambuklao has not been operational since 1999 due to damage 
suffered in a major earthquake in 1990. the rehabilitation work 
at Ambuklao is challenging due to the plant’s complex conditions, 
but is proceeding according to plan. in January 2009, the project 
team successfully completed one of the rehabilitation’s most 
decisive and complex job  s: stage one of plugging the critical 
leaks leading to the powerhouse by using technology normally 
applied in the petroleum industry.  Ambuklao will have an annual 
generation capacity of 332 gwh when refurbished in 2011. 

Binga, located directly downstream of Ambuklao, produced 210 
gwh from July to December 2008. the plant will undergo reha-
bilitation from 2010 to 2015, and this is expected to result in 
an annual output of 419 gwh after completion.

the operation of Binga and the rehabilitation work on the Ambuklao 
plant have already had a significant positive impact on the region 
as a source of work opportunities for the local population. the 
project currently employs more than 525 people of whom 70-80% 
are local citizens. As the rehabilitation project steps up throughout 
2009, the number of employees will increase even further.

the philippines

SN power and aboitiz equity ventures formed the 
50–50 joint venture company SN aboitiz power in 
2006 to bid for and develop hydropower projects in 
the philippines. in just three years, the company has 
acquired three major hydropower plants on luzon, 
turning SN aboitiz power into the largest private 
renewable energy company in the country.

SN aboitiz power 2006 2007 2008

generation capacity mw 0 360 535**

Annual generation gwh 0 661 1 158

employees* 0 79 124

*total number of employees in Sn power and Sn Aboitiz power/moRe
** expected installed capacity after rehabilitation is 585 mw

our business in
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einAR StenStADvolD
cEo AfricA And cEntrAl AmEricA comPAny

AfRiCA AnD CentRAl AmeRiCA

Set for new 
investments 
in africa 
and Central 
america
SN power aNd NorfuNd have formed a New CompaNy to explore buSiNeSS developmeNt iN afriCa 
aNd CeNtral ameriCa. the New CompaNy aimS to Complete itS firSt iNveStmeNt iN 2009, aNd the 
objeCtive iS to reaCh a portfolio of 700 mw of GeNeratioN CapaCity by 2015. “we have the Capi-
tal aNd CompeteNCe NeCeSSary to play aN aCtive role iN developiNG the SiGNifiCaNt poteNtial 
iN theSe marKetS,” SayS eiNar SteNStadvold, Chief exeCutive offiCer of the New eNtity.

Sn power Annual Report 2008 | Sn power’s locations | Africa and Central America



Africa has formed part of Sn power’s strategy from the start, 
but it had not been a primary focal point for growth until the 
establishment of the new Africa and Central America entity 
owned by Sn power (51 per cent) in partnership with norfund 
(49 per cent). the new company will draw on the expertise 
and experience of Sn power and share resources through a 
service agreement.

regioNal iNtegratioN of MarketS  
Both Southern Africa and Central America are currently integrat-
ing their regional power grids and are gradually expanding cross-
border markets. this development resembles the creation of the 
nordic interconnected power market and power exchange.

“our norwegian experience gives us a head start. Regional 
integration will foster many investment opportunities in the power 
sector, which will strengthen the regions’ economic develop-
ment, as we have seen in parts of Asia as well,” says einar 
Stenstadvold , who is in the process of setting up the structure 
of the new company and forming a new management team. 

in Africa, the company will focus primarily on the countries con-
nected to the South African power pool, which includes South 
Africa and its neighbors. As South Africa is the engine of the 
Southern African economies, understanding that country’s power 
market is key for any company with ambitions in the region, 
explains Stenstadvold. 

in Central America, Stenstadvold and his team are studying the 
features of the region and the development of the Central Ameri-
can electrical interconnection System. this regional power grid 
includes guatemala, el Salvador, Honduras, nicaragua, Costa 
Rica and panamá. 

PoSitioNiNg for tHe future  
Both Africa and Central America have great hydropower poten-
tial. Africa has developed less than 7 per cent of its available 
capacity.  mining has been Africa’s major off-taker of electric-
ity, but because of the international financial downturn, mining 
companies are now halting their activities due to falling global 
commodity prices.  

Still, Stenstadvold is optimistic: “Building hydropower projects 
takes time. By starting now, our projects will generate economic 
activity and help alleviate the region’s future energy shortage, 
which will be even more evident when the world economy comes 
out of the current downturn.”
Stenstadvold is convinced that the new entity will be an attractive 
partner for governments as well as other companies. “unlike 
many other developers, who depend on obtaining equity or debt 
financing in the market, we have a strong financial position and 

can benefit from Sn power’s long-term relations with multilateral 
lenders,” he says, adding that the rate of success will depend 
on the availability of financial instruments such as guarantees, 
mixed credits, equity insurance and loans.

“ it is interesting to see how countries like india and China, 
through their vast foreign currency reserves, are using such 
instruments to position themselves in African countries rich on 
commodities,” Stenstadvold points out. 

coNtributiNg to develoPMeNt  
the new Africa and Central America company will look for com-
mercially viable hydropower projects, that also satisfy social and 
environmental requirements. Stenstadvold acknowledges that 
several countries in the region have weak regulatory regimes 
and lack the capacity and resources needed to undertake and 
support large infrastructure projects. Business ethics and social 
responsibility also represent significant challenges.

“ it is the company’s mission to transfer competence and 
ensure socio-economic development in the communities where 
projects are developed. we intend to build professionally run, 
world-class projects, and to be a reliable taxpayer and employer.  
this is vital in order to contribute to sustainable development,” 
Stenstadvold says.

Our Norwegian experience 
gives us a head start. Regional 
integration will foster many 
investment opportunities in the
power sector, which will strengthen
the regions’ economic development
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1. HigHligHtS

financial results: Sn power’s financial performance continued 
to improve in 2008. the Sn power group’s operating revenues 
reached muSD 161 as compared to muSD 79 in 2007. eBitDA 
increased from muSD 37 in 2007 to muSD 60. the group’s 
operating profit increased from muSD 28 to muSD 45 in 2008 
and the net earnings after tax and minority interests increased 
to muSD 43, up from muSD 37 in 2007. 

Safety challenges: During 2008, nine recordable fatal accidents 
took place in projects and operations where Sn power has an 
interest. eight of these fatalities took place at construction 
sites belonging to Sn power’s joint venture companies. Health 
and safety performance has been a primary concern for Sn 
power’s Board and management. A number of measures have 
been taken to improve performance and to remedy the unac-
ceptable fatality rates.  

High construction activity: 2008 was characterized by high con-
struction activity in Sn power’s subsidiaries and joint venture 
companies. the acquisition of the Ambuklao and Binga plants 
in the philippines in cooperation with Aboitiz equity ventures 
was successfully completed, and rehabilitation of the Ambuklao 
plant was started. in Chile, Sn power began construction of 
the company’s first wind park. Both projects are proceeding on 
schedule and with good health and safety performance. the 
company faces challenges with progress on the hydropower 
construction projects in Chile and india, and achieving timely 
completion of these projects in 2009 and 2010 is a priority. 

preparing for growth: During 2008, Sn power has focused on 
expanding its organizational capacity and attracting the com-
petence needed for further growth. A new project management 
system was developed to improve oversight and control, includ-
ing changes to the management of health and safety and new 
approaches to construction contracting. 

Change in ownership: Statkraft and norfund laid the foundation 
for Sn power’s growth strategy up to 2015 with a change in the 
ownership structure. Statkraft increased its stake from 50% to 
60% through a combined share transaction and capital issue. 
norfund reduced its share correspondingly. Sn power and nor-
fund have established a new subsidiary to focus on expansion 
into Africa and Central America.  

market outlook: Sn power is closely monitoring the effect of the 
financial crisis in its markets and the influence this may have 
on Sn power’s performance and strategy. while the crisis will 
affect prices and risks, and the market for project finance has 
tightened, Sn power believes that the crisis will offer new and 
attractive opportunities for mergers and acquisitions.

board of 
directors 
report
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BoARD of DiReCtoRS

1 2 3 4 5 6
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1. toNe wille
CFO Mail Division, Norway Post 

Senior management positions in norfund, the Kværner group, gene-
ral electric and elkem ASA. various Board directorships, currently at 
Bring Citymail group, Bring Dialogue noway and Sweden, and itella 
information AS. 

2. SteiN dale
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Statkraft 

Senior management positions in the telia group and tandberg ASA. 
Board member in Bergenhalvøens Kommunale Kraftselskap AS and 
fjordkraft AS. 

3. rolf buScH 
General Counsel, Statkraft 

partner in major norwegian law firm, general Counsel telenor ASA, 
Company Secretary norsk Hydro ASA, civil servant norwegian ministry 
of petroleum and energy,

4. tore Haga
Senior Vice President International, Statkraft

Senior management positions in Aker AS, the Kværner group and 
lindorff Holding AS. Board member in theun Hinboun power Company 
limited, nordic Hydro power AB, Asia power invest AB, Småkraft AS and 
fuglesangs limited AS. 

5. Siri HatleN (CHAiRpeRSon)
Executive Vice President, Statkraft 

Senior management positions in Statoil and various board directorships, 
including chair of AS vinmonopolet and Samlaget, director of Kongsberg-
gruppen ASA, the norwegian university of Science and technology, and 
the norwegian glacier museum. 

6. Mark daviS
Investment Director Renewable Energy, Norfund

experience from energy and infrastructure projects, especially in South-
ern and east Africa, as well as selected countries in Asia and latin 
America. mark has been partner in eCon Analysis.



2. finAnCe

the Sn power group generated a net profit of muSD 52 in 
2008. the group improved its net earnings after tax and 
minority interests by muSD 6 from muSD 37 in 2007 to 
muSD 43 in 2008. 

new investments made in 2007 contributed significantly to the 
increase in the profit and loss statement in 2008, in particular 
the effect of a full year of operations at electroandes. income 
from investment in associated companies in 2007 was to a large 
extent affected by a significant unrealized foreign exchange gain 
from the magat hydropower plant in the philippines, and due to 
the unfavourable development in the exchange rate between the 
uSD and the philippine peso (pHp) we recorded an unrealized loss 
on foreign exchange of muSD 13 in 2008 from revaluating loans 
nominated in uSD. the effect of the acquisition of the Binga and 
Ambuklao hydropower plants in July 2008 gave a negative effect 
of muSD 1 in the consolidated financial statements.

the group’s operating revenues reached muSD 161 (muSD 
79)1. eBitDA increased to muSD 60 (muSD 37). in addition, 
the group’s operating profit increased to muSD 45 in 2008 
(muSD 28). the increase in 2008 in the different components 
of operating profit is explained by the effect of a full year’s con-
solidation of electroandes and increased activity on business 
development and governance in holding companies. the effect 
from electroandes is an increase in operating profit of muSD 
31, partially offset by increased costs in holding companies of 
muSD 11 spent on business development.

the group’s assets totalled muSD 1.236 on 31 December 
2008 (muSD 1.040), of which muSD 192 (muSD 134) is cash 
and cash equivalents and muSD 8 was capitalized as project 
development. the group’s interest bearing debt amounted to 
muSD 312 (muSD 180), while equity amounted to muSD 863 
(muSD 802). 

the group’s net cash flow from operating activities in 2008 
was muSD 38 (muSD 30). other current assets increased by 
muSD 11 compared with 2007 and this explains the relatively 
limited increase in operating cash flow in relation to eBitDA. 
net cash used in investing activities for 2008 was muSD 183 
(muSD 440), of which muSD 111 (muSD 147) is related to 
investments in associated companies.

iNterNatioNal fiNaNcial rePortiNg StaNdardS (ifrS) 
the consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with international financial Reporting Standards (ifRS) as adopted 
by the eu. from 2008 and onwards, Sn power group’s presenta-
tion currency is uSD, and comparative figures have been restated 
to uSD using the average exchange rate for profit and loss items 
and the closing balance rate for balance sheet items. 

Statkraft NorfuNd Power iNveSt aS  
the parent company Statkraft norfund power invest AS (Snpi) 
recorded an operating loss of muSD -14 compared to muSD -7 
in 2007. net financial items were muSD 0 (muSD -11) and the 
loss after tax was muSD -14 (muSD -18).  Snpi received new 
equity of muSD 79 from the owners in 2008.  

Statkraft norfund power invest and Sn power Holding have issued 
guarantees of muSD 21 (muSD 45) and muSD 25 respectively 
towards subsidiaries and associated companies.

the Board has proposed that no dividend be paid, and has 
proposed the following coverage of the net loss for the year in 
Statkraft norfund power invest AS:

unCoveReD loSS  muSD 14
totAl AlloCAteD fRom equitY  muSD 14

it is the opinion of the Board of Directors that the consolidated 
financial statements provide a true and fair view of the group’s 
financial performance during 2008 and its financial position on 
31 December 2008. According to Section 3-3 of the norwegian 
Accounting Act, we confirm that the consolidated financial state-
ments have been prepared based on the going-concern assump-
tion and that it is appropriate to use this assumption.

3. opeRAtionS 2008
During 2008, the group’s operational assets delivered solid 
results. good performance was achieved on the new projects 
that were started during the year, while the company experi-

investments made during the year

Company Country
invested in 

2008

Hidroelectria la Higuera S.A. Chile 5
Hidroelectria la Confluencia S.A. Chile 30
malana power Company ltd. india 11
Sn power Aboitiz power Benguet inc. philippines 52
manila–oslo Renewable enterprise inc. philippines 13

totAl 111
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enced continued challenges on the ongoing construction projects 
related to additional delays and cost overruns.

the company experienced a significant increase in revenues 
compared to 2007. the largest contributing factor was the full 
year of operations at electroandes S.A in peru. 

overview of revenues, ebitda and net profit:

2008 2007

muSd revenue ebitda

Net profit 
after minority 

share

Net profit 
after minority 

share

consolidates companies
peru 130 61 33 12
nepal 33 26 7 8

Holding companies 
and other effect -2 -27 -25 -14

associated companies 28 31

totAl 161 60 43 37

Peru  
following the acquisition of 100% of electroandes S.A. in 2007, 
Sn power peru is now the fifth largest electricity producer in 
peru and has eight hydropower plants ranging from 5 mw to 
108 mw. in 2008, a process was undertaken to consolidate 
the management structure and operations of Sn power in peru. 
the two 100% owned operating subsidiaries Cahua S.A. and 
electroandes S.A. are now run as an integrated business under 
the Sn power brand.

SN power peru 2007* 2008

energy production, gwh 768 1 598
Revenues, muSD 40 130
eBitDA, muSD 23 61

* electroandes included from october 2007

Sn power also holds a number of both permanent and tempo-
rary concessions for the development of greenfield hydropower 
projects in peru. the most advanced project is the 168 mw/837 
gwh Cheves project, for which a tender process for its construc-
tion is being undertaken. the expected mean annual generation 
is 837 gwh.

NePal  
in 2007 Sn power had a 50.4 per cent voting share in Himal 
power limited (Hpl) which operates the 60 mw Khimti hydro-
power plant with a mean annual generation of 350 gwh. in 
2008, two of the minority shareholders, ge energy (norway) 
AS and Alstom norway AS, decided to divest their sharehold-
ings in Hpl. Consequently, Sn power increased its owner-
ship stake to a 57.1% voting share from 1 october 2008. 

himal power ltd 2007 2008

energy production, gwh 396 372
Revenues, muSD 34 33
eBitDA, muSD 27 26

the lower generation in 2008 is a result of 13 days of shut-down 
due to maintenance and inspection, and the fact that the year 
was drier than normal. 

in november 2008, Sn power was granted a survey licence to 
expand the Khimti plant by adding a sixth unit of 50 mw genera-
tion capacity. Sn power nepal continued project development 
and feasibility studies of the tamakoshi 2 and 3 survey licenses, 
which were granted in 2007. 

cHile  
Sn power and Australian-based pacific Hydro limited have two 
hydropower projects under construction in the tinguiririca val-
ley southeast of the capital Santiago, through a 50/50 joint 
venture managed by tinguiririca energía. Construction of the 
la Higuera plant started in october 2005. the plant will have 
an installed capacity of 155 mw and a mean annual generation 
of 728 gwh. the plant is forecasted to start operation towards 
the end of 2009, one year later than originally scheduled. Due 
to the delay and la Higuera’s obligation to supply energy to a 
local distribution company from october 2008 under a long-term 
power purchase agreement Sn power made a provision in 2007 
to cover possible losses arising from this obligation. part of the 
provision was used to cover a settlement for the period october 
2008-June 2009.  

Construction of the 156 mw la Confluencia plant started in 
2007 with operation planned to start in 2010. the plant will 
contribute 645 gwh to the Chilean Central grid. Heavy rainfall in 
may 2008 may delay the completion of the project. negotiations 
with the contractor to catch up with the delay are ongoing.

the joint venture with pacific Hydro has also constructed a 58 
mw dual fuel back-up turbine called Colmito to mitigate market 
risk associated with dry periods. the Colmito plant is located 
in central Chile (Region v) and entered into operation in August 
2008. Due to high fuel prices the unit only generated revenues 
from capacity payments in 2008.  

Hidroeléctrica trayenko, 80%-owned by Sn power and 20%-owned 
by its Chilean partner Centinela, continued the development of 
four new hydropower plants with a generation capacity of approx. 
600 mw in the los Rios Region in southern Chile. the main 
focus is on the development of the 392 mw maqueo project, 
which was submitted for environmental approval during the 
first quarter of 2009. 
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Sn power´s first wind farm project is the 46 mw totoral wind 
farm located approximately 300 km north of Santiago. the com-
pany called norvind SA, is also 80%-owned by Sn power and 
20%-owned by Centinela. project construction is going according 
to plan, and the wind farm is expected to enter into operation 
during 2009 with a mean annual generation of 100 gwh.  

PHiliPPiNeS 
Aboitiz equity ventures, inc. (Aev) and Sn power formed the 
50/50 joint venture Sn Aboitiz power in 2006 to jointly bid 
for and develop hydropower projects in the philippines. After 
the successful acquisition of the 360 mw magat hydropower 
plant in 2007, Sn Aboitiz power achieved a second important 
milestones in 2008 through the acquisition of the Binga and 
Ambuklao hydropower plants. Sn Aboitiz power now owns three 
hydropower plants in northern luzon. All three are acquisitions 
from the national power Corporation as part of the philippine 
power sector privatization. 

the magat plant is expected to generate approximately 920 gwh 
in a median year, and in 2008 it generated 948 gwh despite 
output being severely affected by transmission line constraints 
in the main grid from August to october.

SN aboitiz power 2007* 2008**

energy production, gwh 661 1 158
Revenues, muSD 79 124
eBitDA, muSD 65 105

* included in consolidated accounts from second quarter
** Binga included from July 2008

the numbers presented above are 100% and the owner share is 
50%, thus it is accounted for according to the equity method.

the 100 mw Binga and the 75 mw Ambuklao hydropower plants 
were transferred to Sn Aboitiz power Benguet on 10 July 2008. 
Both plants will undergo full scale rehabilitation, and construc-
tion works started at Ambuklao in December 2008. the work 
is on target to be finalized by november 2010. the Binga plant 
will undergo rehabilitation in the period from 2010 to 2015. 
together with magat, Binga strengthens Sn Aboitiz power’s posi-
tion as a major participant in the philippine wholesale electricity 
Spot market.

once rehabilitated, the Ambuklao and Binga plants will have 
a total capacity of 225 mw and a mean annual generation of 
751 gwh. 

Aev and Sn power continue to strengthen their strategic part-
nership and are actively seeking new growth prospects in the 
philippines.

iNdia  
Sn power owns 49% of malana power Company ltd (mpCl) 
while lnJ Bhilwara group owns 51%. mpCl owns and oper-
ates the malana hydropower plant in Himachal pradesh. After 
a capacity upgrade, mean annual production is estimated to 
be 335 gwh.

malana power Company 2007 2008*

energy production, gwh 337 365
Revenues, muSD 31 43
eBitDA, muSD 28 39

* operational capacity increased from 86 mw to 108 mw

the numbers presented above are 100% and Sn power’s own-
ership share is 49%, thus it is accounted for according to the 
equity method.

through its subsidiary AD Hydro power ltd, mpCl is responsible 
for the development of the 192 mw Allain Duhangan run-of-river 
hydropower project, expected to have a mean annual generation 
of 800 gwh. the construction of the Allain Duhangan project 
started in mid-2005, and the first stage of the project is expected 
to be commissioned one and a half years behind schedule at 
the end of 2009. the second stage is expected to be commis-
sioned in mid-2010, two years behind schedule. the project is 
facing challenging geological conditions in the tunnelling work 
and has experienced major cost overruns. the project’s health 
and safety standards have not been acceptable, and significant 
efforts have been made to ensure improvements.

in July 2008, Sn power and tata power Company limited signed 
a memorandum of understanding to jointly develop hydropower 
projects in nepal, Bhutan and india.

Sri laNka  
Sn power has a 30% stake in nividhu private limited which 
owns and operates the  Assupinella and Belihuloya hydropower 
plants. the company is accounted for in accordance with the 
equity method and contributed muSD 0.1 to Sn power’s earn-
ings after tax.

brazil  
Sn power is continuing to pursue its plan to expand further 
in South America and set up a Brazilian subsidiary in Janu-
ary 2008 to undertake business development activities in the 
country. Sn power energía do Brasil ltda. is headquartered in 
Rio de Janeiro.

africa aNd ceNtral aMerica  
During 2008 Sn power continued to pursue business oppor-
tunities in Africa and also looked at projects in Central Amer-
ica. these activities will be further strengthened through the 
establishment in January 2009 of a new Sn power subsidiary 
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co-owned with norfund and focusing specifically on hydropower 
development in Africa and Central America. 

4. CHAnge in owneRSHip AnD 
ReviSeD StRAtegY
with effect from 13 January 2009, Statkraft increased its own-
ership in Sn power from 50% to 60% through a combination 
of the purchase of shares from norfund and a subscription of 
shares in Sn power. Statkraft is now the majority owner in Sn 
power, with a 60% share, while norfund’s share is reduced to 
40%. Statkraft also has an option of a further increase to 67% 
by 2015, and norfund is guaranteed an opportunity to sell all 
or part of its shares during the same period. As part of the 
transaction, Statkraft injected noK 2,000 million (280.5 muSD) 
in equity in Sn power.  in parallel, Statkraft and norfund agreed 
on a revised strategy focusing on growth in Sn power’s existing 
and adjacent markets up to 2015. 

New africa aNd ceNtral aMerica coMPaNy  
A new Africa and Central America company was established in 
January 2009. Sn power holds 51% of the shares in the new 
company, while norfund holds 49%. the company will lead Sn 
power’s expansion into these two new markets, and will be sup-
ported by the management and staff of Sn power.

5. CoRpoRAte goveRnAnCe AnD 
BuSineSS pRinCipleS 
Sn power has a robust set of corporate governance principles. 
the company also has a set of business principles which set 
the standard for its world-wide activities. Sn power’s business 
principles are made publicly available, and the company expects 
its employees, representatives, partners, subsidiaries and sup-
pliers to adhere to these principles. 

Sn power has a strong focus on ethics and business integ-
rity. in 2008, the company initiated the Sn power integrity 
programme, which consists of regular mapping of integrity 
risks throughout Sn power’s organization, training and aware-
ness-raising among employees. the company also developed 
a Code of Conduct and a structure for reporting integrity 
enquiries and suspected breaches of the Code of Conduct. 
the integrity training programme will continue in 2009.  
 
in 2008 Sn power strengthened its governance model and 
developed a new governance System. the system will help 
Sn power to manage its business across the value chain and 
the different geographical areas according to its governance 
principles, strategy, and goals. 

Sn power has also undertaken a significant upgrade of its project 
execution methodology. the project management system integrates 
all aspects of project execution and acquisitions in an optimized 
work flow for the various phases of the entire value chain. 

goverNiNg bodieS  
Sn power’s owners nominate directors to represent them on 
the board of the company.  four of the current directors are 
nominated by Statkraft, including the Chairperson Siri Hatlen, 
and two are nominated by norfund.

Directors of the board of Snpi have extensive experience in 
international equity investment and the energy sector. none of 
the directors of the board have private business interests which 
are related in any way to Snpi or any of its subsidiaries. the 
company’s management team is not represented on the board 
of directors of Snpi.

6. RiSK mAnAgement 
the company has a risk management framework in place, which 
includes policy and risk appetite, structure, methodology, skills, 
culture and tools. this is applied both to new developments 
as well as throughout the project and asset lifecycles for the 
monitoring and mitigation of risk. improvements are currently 
being made to the monitoring and reporting of risk. 

Sn power’s approach to risk management covers environmen-
tal, social and reputational issues in addition to financial, 
operational and political risks. Sn power believes that a com-
prehensive approach to risk management delivers long-term 
benefits to the company

Debt financing is obtained at project or country holding level 
with limited recourse to the parent company. with operations in 
a number of different power markets, Sn power has significant 
exposure to local spot power prices and short-term contracts 
with fixed prices. market risk is managed by seeking to obtain 
a balance between medium and long-term contract and spot 
market exposure, utilizing hedging instruments where applica-
ble. A new system to analyze total risk exposures across all 
markets and profit centers is now being developed within the 
Sn power group. 

further risk mitigation measures include hedging parts of its for-
eign exchange exposure related to equity investments and taking 
out insurance against political risk on a case-to-case basis. 
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7. HeAltH AnD SAfetY
Sn power’s goal is to achieve the highest power industry standard 
on Health and Safety in all its projects and operations. Health 
and Safety has been a major concern for Sn power’s Board and 
management since the company experienced the first fatal acci-
dent in 2006.  in 2008, a total of nine recordable fatal acci-
dents took place in projects and operations, in which Sn power 
has an interest. eight employees of subcontractors lost their 
lives in accidents at the construction sites of Sn power’s joint 
venture companies in india and Chile. in addition, one drown-
ing accident took place at Sn power peru’s pariac power plant. 
 
four fatal accidents occurred at the Allain Duhangan project in 
india, resulting in six fatalities. two workers died when taken by 
an avalanche in January. three workers died in two separate 
transport-related accidents on the Duhangan road. one fatality 
occurred when a contract worker was hit by a reversing transit 
mixer while working on the project site. 

the Allain Duhangan project also experienced two fatal accidents 
in 2009. in January, a vehicle carrying ten subcontractor employ-
ees skidded off the road under winter conditions, leaving one 
person dead and nine persons injured, three of whom were 
hospitalized for an extended period. As a consequence, Sn 
power demanded a halt to further work on the project in order 
to ensure that routines for transportation under winter condi-
tions were revised and measures taken to strengthen the safety 
routines in general. in march, one subcontractor employee was 
fatally injured when rocks fell from the roof of a tunnel during 
work. work was stopped until measures were taken to improve 
the safety of the working environment. 

the Allain Duhangan project, with a total of 13 fatalities since 
December 2006, has been subject to considerable Sn power 
Board and management attention, and several steps have 
been taken to improve the critical situation. two Health and 
Safety audits were conducted in 2008, local H&S staff have 
been trained in norway, and the project management has been 
strengthened by top international experts. in addition,   Sn 
power has taken steps to better control and monitor the man-
agement of the project. the actions have given positive results, 
but work continues in 2009 to ensure that the project’s Health 
and Safety standard is brought to a satisfactory level as quickly 
as possible.  

in Chile, four fatal accidents have taken place on projects where 
Sn power has invested since 2006. in may 2008, a bus evacuat-
ing workers from the la Higuera site during heavy rainfall in may 
was hit by a boulder, killing one passenger. in the la Confluencia 
project, an operator of a transit mixer was fatally injured when 
the vehicle turned over. Both incidents have been thoroughly 
investigated and corrective actions have been implemented.

Sn power has worked actively to promote Health and Safety in 
the construction projects in Chile, and audits were undertaken at 
the la Higuera and la Confluencia projects.

A comprehensive set of Health, Safety, environmental and social 
requirements have been introduced for all new construction 
projects. these formed part of the basis for contractor selection 
for the Ambuklao rehabilitation project. 

A fatal accident affecting a third party occurred at the pariac hydro-
power plant in peru, when a boy drowned in a water intake canal. 
Another drowning accident took place at the Arcata hydropower 
plant in peru in January 2009, when a local resident was found 
drowned in the plant’s water intake.  

in 2008, Sn power has started using the total Recordable injury 
(tRi) frequency rate as a key performance indicator on safety both 
in the group and associated companies. the tRi rate is defined as 
the total number of injuries resulting in fatality, lost time, medical 
treatment or transfer to other job per million hours worked. for 
operating plants, the weighted average tRi rate was 4 in 2008. 
the corresponding tRi-rate for construction projects was 16, but 
this number does not include the Allain Duhagan project in india 
from which reporting was incomplete. Sn power is able to include 
the tRi rate for Allain Duhangan in its reporting from January 2009 
as a result of measures taken to improve the quality of data.

8. people
Sn power continued to strengthen its organization in 2008.  
the total number of employees in Sn power and consolidated 
companies increased from 435 to 479. of this number, 38 are 
based at the company’s headquarters in oslo, 308 in peru, 45 
in Chile, 2 in Brazil, 65 in nepal, 8 in india, 4 in the philippines 
and 9 in Singapore.

Sn power’s non-consolidated companies had approximately 750 
employees at the end of 2008. in addition, more than 4000 
people are employed by contractors at the project construction 
sites in Chile, india and the philippines at year end. 

Absenteeism owing to sickness for the group was 1,047 
days, amounting to 0.2% of total working days. this is the 
same level as in 2007. Snpi had 138 days of absentee-
ism due to sickness, amounting to 2.2% of total work days.   
 
Sn power’s recruitment strategy is to attract talented individuals 
with international leadership skills and/or expertise from the 
infrastructure development and energy sectors. Sn power’s ambi-
tion is to grow both through m&A and through the development 
of renewable power projects. new departments with expertise 
in these fields have been established and expanded in 2008. 

Sn power Annual Report 2008 | Board of Directors Report



Responsibility for Asia was divided into two new executive vice 
president positions for South Asia and South east Asia, providing 
additional management focus on those two regions.

diverSity  
Sn power has a strong commitment to diversity, and does 
not discriminate on the basis of gender, religion or race. the 
group’s employees and associates represent more than 20 
different nationalities, reflecting the group’s widespread inter-
national presence.

two out of six of the Directors of the Board of Snpi are women. 
one of the six management team members is female and 16% 
of Sn power’s overall workforce is made up of women. this is 
an increase from 11% last year.

9. SoCietY AnD tHe enviRonment 
Since Sn power’s establishment in 2002, the company’s focus 
has been on developing hydropower projects which are envi-
ronmentally and socially sustainable. the company’s long-term 
investments in renewable energy generation contribute to 
economic development in the markets in which we operate. 
in addition, Sn power’s projects contribute to infrastructure 
improvement, tax revenues, direct and indirect employment, 
increased local economic activity and skills, technology and 
competence transfer and development. 

prior to an investment decision, all projects go through rigor-
ous social and environmental impact assessments which are 
in compliance with the ifC’s performance Standards on Social 
and environmental Sustainability, as well as national legislation. 
All investment decisions on new hydropower plant development 
projects and acquisition projects take the potential environmen-
tal and social impacts of the projects into consideration. project 
design is also reviewed and adjusted to reduce any potential 
negative environmental and social impacts of the projects to a 
minimum. environmental and social mitigation programmes are 
introduced on all projects and reviews are carried out throughout 
the life-cycle of the projects to ensure that these plans are being 
adequately implemented. 

cleaN develoPMeNt MecHaNiSM  
Sn power recognizes the potential revenues from the Clean 
Development mechanism (CDm) market as an important ena-
bler of investment in renewable energy projects. Sn power 
actively seeks Certified emission Reduction (CeR) credits 
related to the CDm under the Kyoto protocol for several green-
field projects in our pipeline. A global team working actively in 
the climate and CDm markets has been established, and will 
further strengthen Sn power’s knowledge and capabilities in 
our target markets. 

Sn power has obtained CDm registration for three hydropower 
projects, amounting to CeRs representing almost 1.4 million 
tonnes of Co2 emission reductions per year once the plants 
are operational.  

Sn power also has a number of potential CDm projects in the 
pipeline in Asia and latin America. Currently, projects in Chile 
and the philippines are in the validation stage expecting regis-
tration in 2009. 

eNviroNMeNtal eMiSSioNS  
the company’s hydropower plants in peru, india, Sri lanka and 
the philippines produce minor emissions. the Colmito dual fuel 
back-up plant in Chile emitted 2992 tonnes of Co2, 0.8 tonnes 
of So2 and 4.2 tonnes of nox in 2008. 

10. mARKet outlooK 
economic uncertainty has increased as a result of the global 
financial crisis. falling prices of oil and coal have a dampening 
effect on electricity prices in general, and will affect the markets 
Sn power invests in. A broad-based economic slowdown will 
reduce demand growth, with consequences for power prices. 
nevertheless, many of Sn power’s markets are expected to 
continue to experience power deficits as the pace of investment 
in new capacity is reduced.

the current constraints in debt markets imply a greater reliance 
on equity with an increase in the cost of capital. weaker power 
prices will also reduce the debt burden that power projects can 
sustain. However, Sn power continues to experience interest, 
particularly from multilateral and regional development banks, 
in financing its business.

the financial crisis may provide new opportunities for Sn power 
given the company’s access to new equity capital and the fact that 
restructuring may provide attractive acquisition opportunities.

power shortages in Southern Africa are expected to open new 
opportunities for investments in renewable energy production. 
the development of a new regional transmission line in Central 
America will also provide new opportunities in the electricity 
markets of the region. the establishment of Sn power’s new 
subsidiary for these two markets is timely in this context.

the growth in carbon markets improves the outlook for invest-
ments in renewable energy. However, the financial crisis has had 
a negative impact on carbon prices, and there remain uncertain-
ties in the structure of carbon markets beyond 2012.
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11. pRioRitieS 2009 AnD onwARDS 
2008 was a year of preparing the organization for further growth in line with the strategy to successfully reach our ambitious 2015 
targets. the ownership change provides a platform for Sn power to seek closer industrial cooperation with Statkraft and to capitalize 
on synergies within various renewable technologies. norfund’s current footprint and extensive network in Africa and Central America 
will benefit the newly established subsidiary focusing on these regions.

Sn power will continue to prioritise investments in existing markets, while also looking at synergies in adjacent markets. Sn power 
will pursue selective m&A-driven entries into a few step-out markets where initial investments can serve as the platform for future 
growth. the company will also actively pursue m&A opportunities which may become available as a consequence of the financial 
crisis. the establishment of a separate Africa and Central America subsidiary will ensure a focus on project development in these 
regions.

tHe focuSeS iN 2009 will be oN:  
 further strengthening of procedures, systems and preventive actions on Health and Safety and on project management.

  finalisation of construction projects in india and Chile without further delays and cost overruns, and execution within budget 
and on schedule of the rehabilitation project in the philippines and the wind project in Chile. 

 Selective m&A driven investments to support the company’s ambitious targets. 

 Support expansion of the business in Africa and Central America through the establishment of a new subsidiary.  

  the current pipeline of projects is expected to meet the company’s goals for new investments in terms of both profitability and 
local development effects.

oSlo, 11 MarcH 2009
the Board of Directors of Statkraft norfund power invest AS

 Siri Hatlen mark Davis tone wille Stein Dale
 Chairperson Director Director Director

 tore Haga Rolf Busch Øistein Andresen
 Director Director President & Chief Executive Officer

Sn power Annual Report 2008 | Board of Directors Report
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uNit 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

power portfolio

net installed capacity   mw  630  630 383 169 169
net installed capacity under construction mw  320  284 160 160 83
gross production, actual gwh  3 435  2 162 1 200 845 709
net production (Sn power share) gwh  2 492  1 470 813 652 451

fiNaNCialS – Consolidated figures

operating revenue muSD 161 79 51 24 22
income from associated companies muSD 28 31 3 3 0
Cash and cash equivalents muSD 192 134 121 78 121
equity muSD 863 802 304 167 154
eBitDA muSD 60 37 23 3 1
net earnings after tax muSD 52 47 11 -1 -5
Cash flow from operational activities muSD 38 30 15 -1 5
equity investments from Sn power muSD 111 425 61 54 58
new equity muSD 79 409 81 118 0
interest bearing debt\equity ratio 1) % 36 23 28 20 26
Return on equity after tax 2) % 6 6 5 0 -3
equity ratio 3) % 70 77 72 75 72

people

employees number  479  415 220 122 110
Sickness absence %  0.2  0.2 0.2 2 1
lost-time injury frequency 4) n/A 2 6 5 4
total Recordable injury Rate – operations  4 n/A n/A n/A n/A
total Recordable injury Rate – projects  16 n/A n/A n/A n/A

eNviroNmeNt 

environmental fines mnoK 0 0   0 0 0
Carbon dioxide emissions tonnes  2 992  269 400 400 1 800

1) long-term and short term liabilities to financial institutions
    total equity             

2) net income for the year x 100         
    Average equity          

3) equity x 100         

    Assets

4) in 2008, lost-time injury frequency was subsituted with totral Recordable injury Rate for measureing health and safety performance

Key fiGureS



ACCountS
Sn poweR gRoup

StAtKRAft noRfunD poweR inveSt AS
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note 2008 2007 

oPeRAtInG ReVenUes AnD eXPenses

Sales revenues 7  160 889 78 849
total operating revenues 160 889 78 849

Cost of goods sold 8  35 412 4 590
Salary and personnel costs 9  28 473 15 203
ordinary depreciation and amortization 12, 13 15 453 8 313
write-downs 12, 13  0  182
other operating costs 10  36 793 22 328
total operating costs 116 131 50 615

oPeRAtING PRoFIt/loSS 44 758 28 234

FInAnCIAL InCoMe AnD eXPenses

Income from investments in associates 6, 11 28 152 30 769
Interest income 11  3 088 6 861
other financial income 11  12 949  167
Interest expenses 11  -16 935 -8 268
other financial expenses 11  -12 606 -6 475
Net financial items 14 648 23 055

PRoFIt/loSS BeFoRe tAx 59 406 51 289

tax 21  -11 794 -5 714
Changes in deferred tax 21  4 342 1 467
tax -7 452 -4 246

Net PRoFIt/loSS FoR tHe YeAR 51 954 47 043

Minority interests -9 446 -10 187
Net PRoFIt FoR tHe YeAR AFteR MINoRItY 42 508 36 856
         
        

InCoMe stAteMent
Figures in UsD 1 000
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note 2008 2007 

Assets

Fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets
deferred tax asset 21 2 830 1 452
Road and land rights 13 7 352 1 864
Project development 13 19 556 3 673
Software licences 13  691  656
total intangible fixed assets 30 429 7 645

Tangible fixed assets
land 12 6 297 4 306
water rights 12 262 077 262 752
Plants and machinery 12 297 459 288 733
Fixtures and fittings, vehicles, other equipment 12 9 660 8 572
total tangible fixed assets 575 493 564 364

Financial fixed assets
Investments in associates 6 343 325 293 323
Investments in shares  267  615
other long-term receivables 3 100 1 814
total financial fixed assets 346 692 295 752

totAl FIxed ASSetS 952 614 867 761

Current assets

Spare parts
 706  953

Receivables
Accounts receivable 16 15 968 16 163
other receivables 17 74 656 20 687
total receivables 90 624 36 849

Bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents 192 331 134 124
 18
totAl CuRReNt ASSetS 283 661 171 926 

totAl ASSetS 1 236 275 1 039 687

bALAnCe sheet At 31 DeCeMbeR
Figures in UsD 1 000 
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note 2008 2007 

eQUItY AnD LIAbILItIes

equity

Paid-in equity 19 836 128 757 548
other equity -24 162 - 395
Minority interests 51 323 44 458
total equity 863 289 801 611

totAl equItY 863 289 801 611

Liabilities

Provisions
Pension commitments 20  402  683
deferred tax 21 13 337 16 105
other long-term provisions 22 3 273 6 444
total provisions 17 012 23 232

Other long-term liabilities
Interest-bearing long-term debt 23 280 701 167 041
total other long-term liabilities 280 701 167 041

Current liabilities
Current portion long-term debt 23 30 710 13 479
Accounts payable 12 861 6 816
tax payable 1 305 5 523
Public tax payable  601  462
Financial instruments (Fx hedge contracts) 15 5 150 4 283
other current liabilities 24 24 646 17 240
total current liabilities 75 273 47 803

totAl lIABIlItIeS 372 986 238 076

totAl equItY ANd lIABIlItIeS 1 236 275 1 039 687
 

bALAnCe sheet At 31 DeCeMbeR
Figures in UsD 1 000

OslO, 11 MaRCh 2009
the Board of directors of Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS

 Siri Hatlen Mark davis tone wille Stein dale
 Chairperson Director Director Director

 tore Haga Rolf Busch Øistein Andresen
 Director Director President & Chief Executive Officer
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Attributable to equity holders of the parent company
Minority 
interests

total 
equity

share 
capital

share  
premium

Retained  
earnings

translation 
reserve

hedging 
reserve

At 1 JANuARY 2007 136 550 136 550 -10 492 -1 877 1 222 41 790 303 743

Transactions with shareholders
Issue of share capital 204 630 204 630  0  0  0  0 409 259
Issue of share capital in Subsidiaries - Minority 
Share  0  0  0  0  0  209  209
Paid dividends  0  0  0  0  0 -7 957 -7 957
transactions with shareholders 204 630 204 630  0  0  0 -7 748 401 511

Recognised through equity
effects of changes in functional currency to uSd -5 983 8 419 2 436
exchange rate adjustments 37 595 37 595  788 -31 163 1 833  229 46 877
Booked directly against equity 37 595 37 595  788 -37 145 10 252  229 49 314

Recognised through Profit and loss
Profit for the year  0  0 36 856  0  0 10 187 47 043
Recognised through Profit and loss  0  0 36 856  0  0 10 187 47 043

At 31 deCeMBeR 2007 378 774 378 774 27 153 -39 022 11 474 44 458 801 611

Transactions with shareholders
Issue of share capital 39 290 39 290 78 580
Issue of share capital in Subsidiaries  
- Minority Share 8 543 8 543
Reduced minority due to increased owner share -4 556 -4 556
Paid dividends -6 348 -6 348
transactions with shareholders 39 290 39 290  0  0  0 -2 361 76 219

Recognised through equity
Net gain/losses on Net investment hedges 9 129 - 220 8 909
Net gain/losses on Cash Flow hedges incl 
Associates

-32 824 -32 824

exchange rate adjustments -42 580 -42 580
Booked directly against equity  0  0  0 -42 580 -23 695 - 220 -66 495

Recognised through Profit and loss
Profit for the year 42 508 9 446 51 954
Recognised through Profit and loss  0  0 42 508  0  0 9 446 51 954

At 31 deCeMBeR 2008 418 064 418 064 69 661 -81 602 -12 221 51 323 863 289

ConsoLIDAteD stAteMent oF  
ChAnGes In eQUItY At 31 DeCeMbeR
Figures in UsD 1 000
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2008 2007 

CAsh FLoW FRoM oPeRAtIonAL ACtIVItIes

Profit/loss before tax 59 406 51 289
tax paid -9 184 -9 014
ordinary depreciation 15 453 8 313
write-downs  0  182
Gain/loss on disposal of fixed assets 1 379
difference between this year's pension expenses and pension premiums - 280 - 23
Income from investments in associates -28 152 -30 769
effect of exchange rate changes (agio/disagio) 1 455 3 869
Fx hedges in profit and loss with no cash effect 7 736
Change in accounts receivable  195 2 743
Change in accounts payable 6 045 5 620
Change in spare parts  247  548
Change in other long-term provisions -3 171  292
Change in other current assets and liabilities -13 304 -2 565
Net cash flow from operational activities 37 824 30 485

CAsh FLoW FRoM InVestMent ACtIVItIes

Investments in tangible and intangible fixed assets -52 157 -21 000
Investments in subsidiaries -284 298
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  117
dividends from associated companies 14 362
Investment in financial fixed assets -144 649 -146 735
Net effect of cash and cash equivalents from acquisitions  675 6 177
Proceeds from realised Fx hedge contracts -1 088 5 890
Net cash flow from investment activities -182 739 -439 966

CAsh FLoW FRoM FInAnCInG ACtIVItIes

Change in long-term debt 113 660 -12 900
Change in short-term debt 17 231  0
Payment of dividends -6 348 -7 957
New paid-in equity 78 580 409 259
Net cash flow from financing activities 203 123 388 402

effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 15 637

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 58 207 -5 443
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Jan 134 124 139 566

CASH ANd CASH equIvAleNtS At 31 deCeMBeR 192 331 134 124

CAsh FLoW stAteMent
Figures in UsD 1 000



SN PoweR GRouP

SN Power Annual Report 2008 | Accounts | Notes

Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS, including its subsidiaries (SN Power 
Group), is an international renewable energy company with projects and 
operations in Asia, Africa and latin America. the company invests on com-
mercial terms and is committed to social and environmental sustainability 
throughout the business. the company’s headquarter is in oslo.

the consolidated financial statements of the SN Power Group for the year 
ended 31 december 2008, and were authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution passed by the Board of directors on 11 March 2009.

the following discussion describes the most important accounting prin-
ciples used in the consolidated accounts. these principles have been 
applied consistently to all reporting, unless otherwise stated.

BasIC PRInCIPles | the consolidated financial statements for the 
Group have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standard (IFRS) as adopted by the eu. this is the Group’s 
second annual statement in accordance with IFRS. 

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical 
cost basis. For 2008, they are presented in uS dollars (uSd), for the 
first time. Corresponding figures for 2007 have also been restated to 
uSd by using a closing rate at 31 december 2007 of uSd/Nok 5.4188 
for balance sheet items and an average rate for the year 2007 of uSd/
Nok 5.86422 for profit and loss items. All values are rounded to the 
nearest uSd thousand unless otherwise stated. 

CORResPOndIng FIguRes | All figures in the income statement, the balance 
sheet, the cash flow statement and additional information are presented 
with the previous year’s corresponding figures. the corresponding figures 
are based on the same principles as figures for the current period.

sIgnIFICanT aCCOunTIng judgeMenTs, esTIMaTes and assuMPTIOns 
the preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires manage-
ment to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. estimates and 
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Changes in 
estimates will be recognised in the period they occur only if applicable 
in that period. If changes also concern future periods, the effect is 
distributed over both current and future periods.

However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could 
result in outcomes requiring a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the asset or liability affected in the future. the areas in 
the financial statements of SN Power Group that are most affected by 
significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions are: 

useful life of tangible and intangible fixed assets
depreciation is based on management estimates of the useful lives 
of the assets and their residual values. estimates may change due 
to changes in scrap value, technological development, environmental 
and legal requirements. Management reviews the future useful lives of 
each component and the residual value annually, taking into account 
the above mentioned factors. 

Provisions and contingent liabilities
IAS 37 defines when to recognise a provision in the financial statements. 
Management must make estimates and use judgement in determin-
ing the expected probability of an outflow of resources and a reliable 
estimate of the amount. 

Purchase price allocation related to new investments in subsidiaries 
and associated companies
when entering into new investments in subsidiaries or associated com-
panies, the Group will measure the cost of the business combination 
according to IFRS 3. Management must use judgement in defining and 
allocating fair values of assets, liabilities and direct costs attributable 
to the combination. 

CaPITal ManageMenT | the primary objective of the Group’s capital 
management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and 
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maxim-
ise shareholder value. the Group manages its capital structure and 
makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. 
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or 
issue new shares. the Group’s policy is in the long run to keep the 
gearing ratio in investment companies around 50%. the gearing ratio 
is defined as total liabilities divided by total equity and liabilities:

tUsD 2008 2007

total liabilities 372 986 238 076
total equity and liabilities 1 236 275 1 039 687

Gearing ratio 30.2% 22.9%

COnsOlIdaTIOn | the consolidated financial statements comprise the 
financial statements of the parent company Statkraft Norfund Power 
Invest AS and its controlling interests in other companies as of 31 
december 2008. 

nOTe 1
SuMMARY oF SIGNIFICANt ACCouNtING PRINCIPleS

notes
Figures in UsD 1 000
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elimination of transactions
Intra-group balances, unrealised profits and losses or income and 
expenses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. 

subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities where the Group has a controlling interest. 
Controlling interest is normally attained when the Group holds, directly 
or indirectly, more than 50% of the voting rights and is capable of exer-
cising financial and operational control over the company. 

the subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is trans-
ferred to the Group. Correspondingly, they are deconsolidated from the 
date control ceases. the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from 
the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as appropriate.

the purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acqui-
sition of subsidiaries. the purchase method implies that the cost of 
acquisition is allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities according 
to fair value on the acquisition date. Costs exceeding fair value of iden-
tified assets and liabilities are recorded as goodwill, and judgements 
are made annually to see if the carrying amount can be justified based 
on future earnings.

Minority interest is the share of profit and equity that is not held by the 
Group. this is reported separately in the income statement and under 
equity in the consolidated financial statement. 

All subsidiaries registered outside Norway are assessed as independ-
ent entities. the accounts of these subsidiaries are converted to the 
Group’s reporting currency (uSd) by calculating all balance sheet items 
at the closing rate at the year end, whilst all income statement items are 
converted at the average rate for the year. Any conversion differences 
affecting balance sheet items are recorded directly against equity.

associated companies
Investments in associated companies where the Group holds or controls 
from 20% to 50% of the voting rights, and has significant influence, but 
not actual control, are accounted for by the equity method. this means 
that the Group’s share of the net result in the associated companies, 
adjusted for depreciation of added value, is shown on a separate line 
in the consolidated income statement. the investments are shown in 
the consolidated balance sheet as fixed assets, recognised at the value 
which equals the historical cost price corrected for the accumulated share 
of results adjusted for depreciation of excess values during the period of 
ownership, dividend received and possible exchange rate adjustment. Any 
conversion differences are recorded directly against equity.

the consolidated financial statement includes the Group’s share of 
profit or loss from the date on which significant influence is attained 
and until such influence ceases.

Revenue ReCOgnITIOn | Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale 
of goods and services, net of value Added tax, rebates and discounts 
and after eliminated sales within the Group. Revenue is recognised 
in accordance with the earned income principle. this means that all 
income is recorded as and when earned.

a) Power sales
Revenues from power sales and transmission are recognised as income 
when delivered. 

B) sales of services
Sales of services are recognised in the accounting period in which the 
services are rendered.

C)  dividend income
dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is 
established, normally when approved by the General Assembly.

d) Income from associated companies
the Group’s share of the net result in associated companies is recorded 
in the Group’s accounts in accordance with the equity method.

gOveRnMenT gRanTs | Grants from governments are recognised gross 
in the income statement and in the balance sheet. Government grants 
related to costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement 
over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they 
are intended to compensate. Government grants related to projects 
recognised in the balance sheet are presented as deferred income 
and recognised as income along with depreciation of the correspond-
ing asset.

eMIssIOn RIghTs | SN Power Group will in most cases receive emis-
sion rights through the production of environmentally friendly energy 
and sell them to a third party. 

Revenue will be recognised in line with production and if any up-front 
payment is made, this will be treated as a prepayment. If the entity 
holds redundant emission rights it should be recorded as inventory in 
accordance with IAS 2, and should subsequently be measured at the 
lower of cost or the net realisable value.

Agreements made to sell CeRs in the future at a fixed price with a 
future settlement date, can under certain circumstances be treated as 
forward contracts. Generally the criteria for being derivative depend on 
whether the CeRs are settled by “physical delivery” of the CeR. If the 
contract is a derivative it will be treated as a financial instrument in 
accordance with IAS 39. 

CeRs are recognised as income over the period during which the cor-
responding power is produced. the first CeR approved power in the 
group will be produced in 2009.
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FOReIgn CuRRenCy | the consolidated financial statements are pre-
sented in uSd, which is also the parent company’s functional and pres-
entation currency. 

each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency based 
on local operations and items included in the financial statement of 
each entity are measured using that functional currency.

Balance sheet items in foreign currency are assessed at the exchange 
rate at the date of the balance sheet. exchange rate effects are recog-
nised as financial items. 

Gains and losses on hedges in net investments in foreign operations, 
including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the 
net investment, are recognised directly in equity as long as the hedge 
is deemed effective. the ineffective portion of a hedge is recognised in 
profit and loss. on disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative value 
of any such gains or losses recognised directly in equity is transferred 
to the profit and loss along with accumulated exchange differences on 
the net investment.

FInanCIal InsTRuMenTs | generally
Financial instruments are initially allocated to one of the categories of 
financial instruments as described in IAS 39. the different categories 
relevant to the SN Power Group and the management that follow the 
instruments recognised in the respective categories are described 
below.

valuation principles for different categories of financial instruments
1) Instruments at fair value through profit or loss
derivatives are financial instruments that have to be measured at fair 
value in the balance sheet. other financial instruments held for trade 
also have to be measured at fair value through profit or loss. except for 
hedging purposes, changes in value are taken to profit or loss. For deriva-
tives that are hedging instruments in a hedge accounting, the change 
in value of the effective part of the hedge, following from a change in 
the value of the hedged risk, are not taken to profit or loss. 

In a fair value hedge such effects are carried against the value of the 
hedging object. For hedging of cash flow and hedging of net investments 
in foreign operations such effects are taken directly to equity. derivatives 
consist of both independent derivatives and embedded derivatives that 
are separated from the host contract and recognised at fair value as if 
the derivative was an independent contract. 

2) Loans and receivables
loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value including 
transaction costs. In subsequent periods, loans and receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, so 
that the effective interest rate becomes equal over the term of the 
instrument.  

3) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value including transac-
tion costs. In subsequent periods, financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method so that the effective 
interest rate becomes equal over the term of the instrument.  

Principles for designation of financial instruments to different catego-
ries of instruments 
Below is a description of the guidelines applied by the SN Power Group 
for designation of financial instruments to different categories of financial 
instruments in cases where an instrument can qualify for recognition 
under more than one category.   

Instruments at fair value through profit or loss
derivatives must always be assessed under the category “to fair value 
through profit or loss”. Financial contracts regarding the purchase or sale 
of energy and Co2 quotas always have to be considered as derivative 
financial instruments. Physical contracts regarding the purchase and 
sale of energy and Co2 quotas entered into as authorized by trading, or 
settled financially are considered as if they were financial instruments 
and have to be measured at fair value. Physical contracts regarding the 
purchase and sale of energy and Co2 quotas entered into according to 
authorization related to own requirements or provision for own produc-
tion, are normally not covered by IAS 39 as long as the contracts do 
not contain written options in terms of volume flexibility. 

Financial instruments included in hedge accounting
Identification of financial instruments designated as a hedge instru-
ment or a hedge object in a hedge account is based on the intention of 
the acquisition of the financial instrument. If financial instruments are 
acquired with the intention to obtain an economic hedge effect, a closer 
consideration of the possibilities to document a hedge account should be 
made. Such considerations are normally not made on an ongoing basis 
even though the intention of the acquisition is a hedge by nature.

Presentation of derivatives in profit or loss and in the balance sheet
derivatives not related to hedging are presented on separate lines in 
the balance sheet under assets and liabilities, respectively. deriva-
tives with positive and negative fair value, respectively, are presented 
gross in the balance sheet as long as no legal rights to set off different 
contracts exist, and such rights to offset actually will be applied in the 
current cash settlement following the contracts. In the latter case, the 
particular contract will be presented net in the balance sheet. In the 
income statement, changes in fair value of derivatives not classified 
as hedge accounting are presented on separate lines. value changes 
in energy derivatives are presented on a separate line under revenue, 
while value changes in financial derivatives are presented on a separate 
line under financial items.

InCOMe Tax | tax payable for the current and prior periods is measured 
at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities. the tax rates 
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and laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date. 

deferred tax and deferred tax assets
deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method on temporary 
differences at the date of the balance sheet between the tax basis of 
assets and liabilities, and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes. deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the 
carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be uti-
lised. the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at 
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. unrecognised deferred 
income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future tax-
able profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability 
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantially enacted at the date  of the balance sheet. deferred 
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset within the same legal 
tax subject. 

CuRRenT/nOn-CuRRenT | An asset/liability is classified as current 
when it is expected to be realised/settled, or is intended for sale or 
consumption, in the Group’s normal operating cycle. or, it is held primarily 
for the purpose of being traded, or it is expected/due to be realised or 
settled, within twelve months after the date of the balance sheet. 

the presentation of financial instruments in current and non-current 
items respectively, is made according to general guidelines for such 
classification. For long-term debt, the first year instalment is classified as 
a short-term item. All derivatives are presented as short-term items.

InTangIBle asseTs | Road and land rights
expenses for intangible assets, comprising road and land rights, are 
capitalised at historic cost to the extent that the criterias for capitalisa-
tion are satisfied. 

development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. development costs are capi-
talised only if future economic benefits from the development of an 
intangible asset are probable. development costs will often be capital-
ised when a construction project is more likely to happen than not, but 
no formal investment decision has been made. 

TangIBle asseTs | tangible assets are stated at cost, including 
expenses completing the asset for use, less accumulated deprecia-

tion and any accumulated impairment in value. Borrowing costs for 
significant investments are capitalised. expenses accrued after the 
asset has been taken into use, such as maintenance costs, are taken 
to profit or loss, while other expenses expected to generate economic 
benefits are recognised in the balance sheet.    

water rights are not depreciated since no reversion exists and the 
value is deemed to be perpetual. time limited rights are depreciated 
over the license period. water rights acquired in a separate transac-
tion are measured initially at cost. water rights acquired in a business 
combination are measured at fair value based on the estimated excess 
earnings of the acquired power plant. the excess earnings are the 
difference between the after-tax operating cash flow and the required 
cost of invested capital on all other assets used in order to generate 
those cash flows. these contributory assets include property, plant and 
equipment, other identifiable intangible assets and net working capital 
for the power plant. the allowance made for the cost of such capital is 
based on the value of such assets and a required rate of return reflect-
ing the risks of the particular assets.

depreciation is made on a straight line basis over the useful life of 
the asset. the normal useful lives for different groups of assets are 
presented in the table below, but there might be local variations:

Land eternal

Water rights Individual assesment

Plants and machinery
Rock-fill dams, concrete dams 75
tunnel systems 75
Rock rooms/chambers 75
Mechanical machine installations 40
Remaining technical machine parts 15
Generator (primary part) 40
transformer (secondary part) 40
Switchgear (high-voltage) 35
Control gear 15
electro technical auxiliary gear 15
System control centre 15
telecommunication circuit 10
Administration building 50
Power plant (outdoor) 75
other buildings related to operation 50
Buildings: technical installations 30
Buildings: telecoms and automatics 10–20

Fixtures and fittings, vehicles, other equipment
office and computer equipment   3
Furniture and fixtures   5
Means of transport 10
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each part of a fixed asset that is significant to the total cost of the item 
will be depreciated separately. 

Residual value is taken into account when calculating the annual depre-
ciation. land is not subject to depreciation. Periodic maintenance is 
capitalised with depreciation over the time period until the next mainte-
nance is expected to be carried out. estimated useful life, depreciation 
method and remaining value are reviewed annually. 

when assets are sold or disposed of, the capitalised value is derecog-
nised and any loss or gain is taken to profit or loss. If new components 
are capitalised, the components that were replaced are removed and 
any remaining recognised value is recorded as a loss.

leases | A lease is classified as a financial lease if it transfers substan-
tially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. with financial 
lease agreements, the asset is recognised in the balance sheet and 
depreciated.

 A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer sub-
stantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Payments 
made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 
lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the leasing period.

IMPaIRMenT OF asseTs and InTangIBle asseTs | Fixed assets and 
intangible assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting period 
and always when events occur or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. when 
impairment is considered, the assets are grouped at the lowest level 
for which there are separate identifiable cash generating units. Impair-
ment is calculated as the difference between the assets’ carrying value 
and the recoverable amount. the recoverable amount is the highest of 
the assets’ net selling price and the value in use for the company. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flow is discounted 
to the present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. when it is assumed that the asset’s value is lower than 
its carrying value, the asset is written down to the recoverable amount. 
the impairment amount is recognised in the income statement in the 
expense categories consistent with the type of the impaired asset. Previ-
ously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there have been 
changes in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  
the reversed amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised for 
the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

TRade and OTheR ReCeIvaBles | trade receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provi-
sion for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is 

objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the original terms of the receivables. the amount of 
the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at 
the effective interest rate. the amount of the provision is recognised 
in the income statement.

InvenTORIes/sPaRe PaRTs | Spare parts purchased for use in power sta-
tion operation are classified as current assets and valued in the balance 
sheet at the lower of weighted average historical cost and fair value.

Cash and Cash equIvalenTs | Cash and cash equivalents include 
bank deposits, other short-term liquid investments and bank overdrafts. 
Cash and cash equivalents are recognised at current values. Restricted 
deposits are included in cash and cash equivalents. 

equITy | Proposed dividend is classified as equity. dividends are reclas-
sified to short-term liabilities when the time the dividend payments is 
approved by the general shareholder’s meeting.

PROvIsIOns, COnTIngenT asseTs and lIaBIlITIes | Provisions are 
recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or con-
structive) as a result of a past event, and where it is probable that the 
obligation has to be settled and that a reliable estimate of the obliga-
tion can be made. 

Provisions are recognised with the amount which is the best estimate 
of the expenses required to settle the existing obligation at the balance 
sheet date. If significant, the time value of money is taken into account 
when calculating the size of the provision.

PensIOns | defined benefit plans 
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pen-
sion that an employee will receive upon retirement, normally set as a 
share of the employee’s salary. 

employees without a full vesting period will have their pension reduced 
relatively.

the liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit 
pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets, together 
with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past 
service costs. the present value of the defined benefit obligation at 
the balance sheet date is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash outflow using a risk free interest rate. the obligation is 
calculated annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit 
credit method, which implies a pro-rated on service accrual.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and 
changes in actuarial assumptions in excess of the higher of 10% of 
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the value of the pension assets or 10% of the pension obligation, are 
recognised in the income statement over the expected average remaining 
working life of the employees. 

Changes in the defined benefit obligations due to changes in pension 
plans with retrospective effect, i.e. where the earning of the right is not 
contingent on a future vesting period, are taken directly through profit or 
loss. Changes not given retrospective effect are taken through profit or 
loss over the vesting period.

Net pension assets for over-funded plans are recognised at fair value 
and classified as long-term assets. Net pension obligations for under-
funded plans and non-funded plans covered by operations are classified 
as long-term debt. 

Net pension costs for the period are included in salary and other per-
sonnel costs and consist of the sum of pension earned in the period, 
interest costs on the estimated obligation and the estimated return on 
the pension’s fund.  

defined contribution plans 
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays 
fixed contributions into a separate entity without further obligations after 
the contribution has been made. 

the contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses 
when due.

Cash FlOw sTaTeMenT | the cash flow statement is prepared using 
the indirect method. this means presenting, on the basis of the 
annual results, cash flow provided by operating, investing and financ-
ing activities. 

dividends paid to shareholders and minority interests are presented 
under financing activities.

nOTe 2

SIGNIFICANt tRANSACtIoNS IN 2008

SN Power and the Philippine Aboitiz equity ventures Inc have established 
the joint venture SN Aboitiz Power Benguet Inc. In 2007, the company 
placed a successful bid of uSd 325 million on the 100 Mw Binga 
and the 75 Mw Ambuklao hydropower plants. these are rehabilitation 
projects, and takeover was in July 2008.

Norvind SA, 80%-owned by SN Power and 20% by Centinela, is construct-
ing the 46 Mw totoral wind Farm in Chile’s Iv region at a total cost of 
uSd 140 million. Project construction started in 2008 and is moving 
forward according to plan. the wind farm will enter into operations during 
the fourth quarter of 2009. this is SN Power’s first wind project.

nOTe 3
FINANCIAl, PolItICAl ANd MARket RISk

our strategic goals and ambitions as well as the nature of our busi-
ness – geographically spread across different cultures and a variety of 
stakeholders – makes it important to continuously update risk pictures 
at all levels.

POlITICal, InsuRanCe and hydROlOgICal RIsk | SN Power’s main 
area of commitment is in regions of the world which have experienced 
considerable political and economic instability, both now and in the 
past. the risks posed have a substantial impact on the company’s 
investments. the company has a risk management framework in place, 
which includes policy and risk appetite, structure, methodology, skills, 
culture and tools.  this is applied both to new developments as well 
as throughout the project and asset lifecycles for the monitoring and 
mitigation of risk. For evaluation of political risk, the Global Insight risk 
factor at country level is used.  

this enables SN Power both to have the best possible overview of risk 
before making an investment decision, and to continually monitor risks 
in the companies in which it has invested. the company is evaluating 
equity insurance against political risk on a case to case basis.

SN Power has a substantial risk exposure related to potential dam-
ages to assets, subsequent production losses and third party life and 
property damages. this type of risk is handled through several differ-
ent emergency plans and procedures as well as insurance covering all 
types of severe damages.

the company invests in enterprises where generating and selling 
hydropower are the principal activities. Access to water and general 
hydrological conditions will significantly affect the group’s cash gen-
erating capacity and the prices it can obtain in hydropower markets. 
this means that the results could vary significantly from one year to 
another. Geographical diversification will to some extent neutralize this 
risk and a tool for analysing the company’s market risk portfolio is 
under development. 

SN Power’s investment strategy is to pursue active ownership. In this 
context, the company maintains a high focus on optimising the balance 
between contractual and spot market sales whenever possible. elec-
tricity markets vary widely in their level of deregulation. Big differences 
exist in this respect, not only between Asia and latin-America, but also 
between the various countries in these regions.

CRedIT RIsk | Credit risk is defined as the risk of financial loss that 
a party to a financial instrument will cause SN Power by failing to dis-
charge an obligation.
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2008 2008

Accounts receivable 15 968 16 163
other receivables 74 656 20 687
Cash and cash equivalents 192 331 134  124

Credit risk related to accounts receivable and other receivables in SN 
Power is limited by the fact that customers and counterparts are in dif-
ferent markets and in many cases are governmental institutions. on the 
other hand, customers are few and large and we operate in emerging 
markets where counterpart risks might be assessed to be higher. Aging 
of accounts receivable is presented below, and all overdue accounts 
receivable are assessed to be collectible.

Company
Current 

receivables
1–30 
days

30–60
days

60–90
days

+90 
days

total 
receivables

totAl 3 479 4 464 312 1 573 6 150 15 968

to manage the credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents, SN Power 
has a policy regulating the maximum exposure per counterpart.

lIquIdITy RIsk | liquidity risk is defined as the risk that SN Power will 
encounter difficulties in meeting in respect of obligations associated 
with financial liabilities. 

Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS’s financing is based on equity; addi-
tional financing will be carried out when the company takes on com-
mitments in relation to new investments. Both construction projects 
and operational activities are financed on the basis of non-recourse 
project financing. SN Power is extending limited and capped guarantees 
primarily during construction.

the following table sets out the instalment profile by maturity of the 
Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk.

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 After 2016

Fixed interest rate
Bank loan 13 593 14 422 11 120 2 432 0 0 0 0 0
Bonds 10 882 10 882 10 822 10 822 5 882 882 882 0 0

Floating interest rate
loand 28 333
Bonds 6 318 6 318 6 318 6 318 19 493 15 494 15 494 0 0
totAl 30 793 31 622 28 320 19 632 53 708 16 376 16 376 0 0

the Group has entered into an interest rate swap to convert part of the 
exposure on a floating interest rate loan in uSd into fixed interest. the 
maturity date of the swap is 16 November 2015, and the fixed interest 
rate is 4.92%. the carrying amount of the floating interest rate loan 
per 31 december 2008 is tuSd 16 226 and the swapped amount 
balance is tuSd 9 226. the fair value of the swap at 31 december 
2008 is tuSd -0.9 and the change in fair value is recognized in earn-
ings with tuSd -0.7.

MaRkeT RIsk | Market risk is defined as risk that the fair value or 
future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risks: currency 
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

Currency risk
SN Power Group’s presentation currency for 2008 is uSd.  the invest-
ments in Chile, Peru and Nepal have uSd as their functional currency, the 
investments in India have INR, and the Philippines have PHP.  our holding 
companies in Norway and Singapore have uSd as functional currency, 
and our Brazil subsidiary has BRl. SN Power returns will be affected 
by the exchange rate between uSd and the investment currency. the 
various subsidiaries and affiliates in which SN Power invests are also 
subject to fluctuations between local currencies and uSd. this especially 
applies to latin America, where the pricing mechanism for electricity is 
partly tied to variations between local currencies and the uSd. In most 
cases, the companies also have their financing in uSd.

SN Power Group makes use of currency swaps and forward contracts 
to hedge part of the currency exposure related to the investments in 
subsidiaries and affiliated companies, in addition to significant cash 
flows in foreign currency. 

Maximum credit risk exposure (tUsD)
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the following table shows the sensitivity of financial instruments to a 
reasonable possible change in material currencies for the Group (con-
solidated companies), with all other variables held constant:

 

Currency
Increase/decrease

 in currency rate
effect on profit before 

tax (tUsD)

2007 PeN +/- 10% +/- 3 529
2008 PeN +/- 10% +/- 3 600

Material currency changes in associated companies will also have conse-
quences on the profit level through application of the equity method for 
such investments. this is especially valid for the Philippine companies 
with PHP as functional currency and 40% of the debt denominated in 
uSd. 

Interest rate risk
SN Power Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the financing 
and customer portfolios held by the different group companies. Inter-
est rate exposure related to the subsidiaries and affiliated companies’ 
debt financing is secured through fixed interest rates for a major part of 
the loans. SN Power’s goal for the Group’s interest risk is to minimise 
interest costs, reduce fluctuations in these, and limit changes in the 
value of the Group’s net debt. 

the following table shows the sensitivity of floating rate debt to a 
reasonable possible change in interest or inflation rate for the Group 
(consolidated companies), with all other variables held constant:

Increase/decrease 
in interest rate

effect on profit
 before tax

2007 +/- 1% +/- 574
2008 +/- 1% +/- 842

nOTe 4
CHANGeS IN tHe GRouP’S StRuCtuRe

hIMal POweR lTd | with effect from 1 october 2008 SN Power bought 
an additional 6.7% of the shares in Himal Power limited from Gen-
eral electric and Alstom and increased the voting share to 57.1% and 
economic share to 50.7%. the purchase price is MuSd 7 + interest 
compensation on libor 6M + 2% from 1 January until actual transfer 
of the shares, dependent on approval from lenders and the Nepalese 
authorities. the effects on SN Power Group financial statements in 2008 
are a reduced minority share in the profit and loss statement of MuSd 
0,3 and a reduced minority share in equity of MuSd 4.8.

eleCTROandes FInal PuRChase PRICe allOCaTIOn | on 17 october 
2007, SN Power acquired 100% of the voting shares in the Peruvian 
hydropower company electroandes S.A. In the financial statements for 
2007 the purchase price was estimated to be MuSd 284 correspond-
ing to MNok 1 570 as the purchase agreement included a clause on 
adjustment on the basis of the working capital. the final purchase price 
was reduced by MuSd 0.7, and this has been classified as a reduction 
of water rights in 2008.
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nOTe 5
SuBSIdIARIeS

The following subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements:

Company
Date of establ./
acquisition business office Main operations Parent company

Voting 
share

owner 
share

Statkraft Norfund Power 
Invest AS 27 May 2003 oslo, Norway Investment

SN Power Holding AS 27 May 2003 oslo, Norway Investment Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS 100% 100%

SN Power Holding 
Singapore Pte. ltd 12 Aug 2003 Singapore Investment SN Power Holding AS 100% 100%

SN Power Holding Peru 
Pte. ltd 26 Aug 2003 Singapore Investment SN Power Holding Singapore Pte. ltd 100% 100%

SN Power Holding Chile 
Pte. ltd 12 Aug 2003 Singapore Investment SN Power Holding Singapore Pte.ltd 100% 100%

SN Power Holding 
Brazil Pte. ltd 12 Aug 2003 Singapore Investment SN Power Holding Singapore Pte. ltd 100% 100%

SN Power energia 
do Brasil 31 dec 2007

Rio de Janeiro, 
Brazil Investment SN Power Holding Singapore Pte. ltd 100% 100%

SN Power Peru 
Holding S.R.l 07 oct 2003 lima, Peru Investment SN Power Holding Peru Pte. ltd 100% 100%

empresa de Generacion 
electrica Cahua S.A 21 Nov 2003 lima, Peru Power production SN Power Peru Holding S.R.l 99.99% 99.99%

empresa de Generacion 
electrica Cheves S.A 01 June 2007 lima, Peru

Power plant under 
construction SN Power Peru Holding S.R.l 100% 100%

Inversiones electricas 
de los Andes S.A.C 17 oct 2007 lima, Peru Investment SN Power Peru Holding S.R.l 100% 100%

transamerica energy 
Company ltd * 17 oct 2007 lima, Peru Investment

Inversiones electricas de los Andes 
S.A.C 100% 100%

electroandes S.A. 17 oct 2007 lima, Peru Power production

Inversiones electricas de los Andes 
S.A.C (20.4%) and transamerica energy 
Company ltd (79.6%) 100% 100%

SN Power Chile Inversiones 
eléctricas ltda 09 dec 2004 Santiago, Chile Investment SN Power Holding Chile Pte. ltd 100% 100%

SN Power Chile 
tingueririca y Cia. 17 dec 2004 Santiago, Chile Investment

SN Power Chile Inversiones electricas 
ltda 99.99% 99.99%

SN Power Chile 
valdivia y Cia. 15 Feb 2006 Santiago, Chile Investment

SN Power Chile Inversiones electricas 
ltda 99.99% 99.99%

Hidroelectrica trayenko S.A 17 Jan 2006 Santiago, Chile
Power plant under 
construction SN Power Chile valdivia y Cia. 80% 80%

Norvind S.A 06 Aug 2007 Santiago, Chile
Power plant under 
construction SN Power Chile valdivia y Cia. 80% 80%

Himal Power ltd ** 01 Mar 2006
kathmandu, 
Nepal Power production SN Power Holding Singapore Pte. ltd 57.07% 50.7%

*  transamerica energy Company ltd was aquired from PSeG as a part of the purchase of the shares in electroandes S.A. and was relocated to Peru in december 2008.
**  Himal Power ltd owner share increased with effect from 1 october 2008 from 44.8% to 50.7%. voting share changed from 50.4% to 57.07%.
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nOTe 6
ASSoCIAted CoMPANIeS 

The following associated companies are included in the consolidated financial statements:

Company 
Date of establ./ 
acquisition

business
office Main operations Parent company

Voting 
share

owner 
share

Hidroelectrica 
la Higuera S.A *  03 Jun 2004

Santiago, 
Chile

Power plant under 
construction SN Power Chile tinguerirca y Cia. 50% 50%

Hidroelectrica la 
Confluencia S.A *  23 Sep 2004

Santiago, 
Chile

Power plant under 
construction SN Power Chile tinguerirca y Cia. 50% 50%

Nividhu (Pvt) ltd *  27 oct 2003
Colombo,  
Sri lanka Power production SN Power Holding Singapore Pte. ltd 30% 30%

Malana Power 
Company ltd *  17 Jun 2005

New dehli, 
India Power production SN Power Holding Singapore Pte. ltd 49% 49%

Allain duhangan 
Hydro Power ltd  17 Jun 2005

New dehli, 
India

Power plant under 
construction Malana Power Company ltd 88% 88%

SN Aboitiz Power  
Magat Inc  29 Nov 2005

Manila,  
Philippines Power production SN Power Holding Singapore Pte. ltd 40% 40%

SN Aboitiz Power  
Benguet Inc **  29 Nov 2005

Manila,  
Philippines

Power production/
rehabilitation SN Power Holding Singapore Pte. ltd 40% 40%

SN Aboitiz Power Hydro Inc *** 
 29 Nov 2005

Manila,  
Philippines Investment SN Power Holding Singapore Pte. ltd 40% 40%

Manila-oslo Renewable **** 
enterprise Inc.   29 Nov 2005

Manila,  
Philippines Investment SN Power Holding Singapore Pte. ltd 16.67% 16.67%

*  the companies with a diverging financial year are: 31 March for India and Sri lanka, and 30 June for Chile. the figures specified in the note represent the 2008 calendar year. 
** Former SN Aboitiz Power Hydro Inc         
*** Former SN Aboitiz Power Biomass Inc         
**** Manila-oslo Renewable enterprise has a 60% owner share in SN Aboitiz Power Magat Inc, SN Aboitiz Power Benguet Inc and SN Aboitiz Power Hydro Inc. None of the companies are 
publicly listed

Book value associated companies: 

Company Country
book value

 31 Dec 2007
Additions/

disposals
share of 

profit/loss Dividends

Foreign 
currency

 translation
 difference

book value 
31 Dec 2008

Hidroelectrica la Higuera S.A Chile 44 257 5 000 3 499 -9 004 43 752
Hidroelectrica la Confluencia S.A Chile 37 169 29 739  96 -28 268 38 735
Nividhu (Pvt) ltd Sri lanka  896  110 - 76 - 51  878
Malana Power Company ltd India 80 383 11 231 12 726 -17 130 87 210
SN Aboitiz Power Magat Inc Philippines 112 432 12 431 -14 286 -17 607 92 969
SN Aboitiz Power Benguet Inc Philippines - 3 51 694 - 666  43 51 068
SN Aboitiz Power Hydro Inc * Philippines  0  0
Manila-oslo Renewable enterprise Inc. Philippines 18 189 12 926 - 42 -2 359 28 713

totAl 293 323 110 590 28 152 -14 362 -74 376 343 325

* SN Aboitiz Power Hydro Inc had no operations during the financial year 2008.
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sIgnIFICanT MOveMenTs In BOOk value assOCIaTed COMPanIes | In Chile, the Group has through cash contributions invested MuSd 35 
during 2008 divided by MuSd 5 on Hidroelectrica la Higuera and MuSd 30 on Hidroelectrica la Confluencia. the la Higuera plant will enter 
into operation in 2009, and the la Confluencia plant is expected to enter into operation in 2010. the foreign currency conversion difference of 
MuSd 37 is due to cash flow hedge contracts on the two plants.

In India, the Group has in 2008 invested MuSd 11 in Malana Power Company, dedicated to the construction of the Allain duhangan hydropower 
plant. the project is expected to enter into operation in 2009. SN Power Group’s share of the profit in Malana Power Company was MuSd 13, and 
a foreign currency conversion difference on MuSd 17 due to the decrease in INR-rate compared to uSd as Malana Power Company has INR as 
functional currency.

In the Philippines, the Group has invested MuSd 64 in the two power plants Binga and Ambuklao. SN Power Group’s share of foreign currency con-
version difference on MuSd 20 is due to the decrease in the PHP-rate compared to uSd, as Magat and Benguet have PHP as functional currency.

Financial information from associated companies (100%)

Company Assets Liabilities Revenue net profit

Hidroelectrica la Higuera S.A 340 526 255 016 1 670 6 998
Hidroelectrica la Confluencia S.A 211 880 134 409  0  191
Nividhu (Pvt) ltd 4 782 2 289 1 686  365
Malana Power Company ltd 206 733 51 371 43 306 25 971
SN Aboitiz Power Magat Inc 585 204 367 557 103 779 24 861
SN Aboitiz Power Benguet Inc 473 579 345 598 19 951 -1 330
SN Aboitiz Power Hydro Inc  0  0  0  0
Manila-oslo Renewable enterprise Inc. 184 116 11 874  0 - 252

Assets and liabilities are converted to uSd using the closing balance rate per 31 december 2008. Revenue and Net Profit are converted using the average rate 
for 2008. the financial information is adjusted to comply with IFRS.

nOTe 7
SAleS ReveNueS

by business area 2008 2007

Power sales 157 962 74 377
Services 2 844 4 472
Gain on disposal of assets  83
totAl 160 889 78 849

by geographical market 2008 2007

Norway  221  92
latin America 127 610 43 299
Asia 33 058 34 486
Africa  0  972
totAl 160 889 78 849
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nOTe 8 
CoSt oF GoodS Sold

2008 2007

Purchase of electric power 25 625  0
transmission costs 7 992 3 352
other production costs and fees  8  469
other accrued costs 1 787  769
totAl CoSt oF GoodS Sold 35 412 4 590

nOTe 9
eMPloYee BeNeFIt exPeNSeS ANd MANAGeMeNt ReMuNeRAtIoN

salary and personnel costs 2008 2007

Salary expenses 22 461 10 867
Social security costs 1 972  987
Pension costs other  160  0
Pension costs (note 20)  551  442
other personnel costs 3 329 2 907
totAl SAlARY ANd PeRSoNNel CoStS 28 473 15 203
         

the average number of man-years 2008 2007

SN Power Group consolidated companies  479  415
SN Power Group associated companies (100%)  753  700
totAl 1 232 1 115
         

expensed management remuneration 2008 noK 2008 UsD 2007 UsD

Chief executive Officer
Salary 1 490  264  242
Paid pension premium  15  3  5
other  127  23  9
totAl ReMuNeRAtIoN 1 632  289  257

Management group
Salary 7 159 1 268 1 067
Paid pension premium  15  3  7
other  721  128  122
totAl ReMuNeRAtIoN 7 895 1 398 1 196
         
SN Power Corporate management group has defined members and consists of 6 people in addition to the Ceo. the management group has 
a supplementary pension scheme with a right to a pension of 66% of the salary up to a specific level from the age of 65 years. the plan 
requires a 30 year vesting period and is from 1 January 2007 and onwards funded by the company. the management group has no right to 
severance pay related to end of employment. 

No remuneration was paid to the Board of directors in Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS in 2008. the management group participates in a 
bonus scheme with a maximum remuneration of 20% of the base salary.
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Audit fee, sn Power Group 2008 2007

Statutory audit  308  164
other assurance services  6  145
tax services  67  69
Non-audit services  74  0
totAl FeeS to AudItoRS  454  379

nOTe 10
otHeR oPeRAtING CoStS

2008 2007

leasing premises 1 908 1 014
external services 14 063 7 957
travel expenses 3 489 2 043
other costs 17 333 11 314
otHeR oPeRAtING CoStS 36 793 22 328

nOTe 11
FINANCIAl INCoMe ANd exPeNSeS

Financial income IAs 39 category 2008 2007

Income from associated companies N/A 28 152 30 769
Interest income Amortized cost 3 088 6 861

Gain on foreign exchange Fair value through profit and loss 20 646  0
Fx hedges Fair value through profit and loss -7 736  0
other financial income Amortized cost  39  167
total other financial income 12 949  167

totAl FINANCIAl INCoMe 44 189 37 798
         

Financial expenses 2008 2007
Interest expenses Amortized cost 13 654 5 874
Interest difference on Fx hedges Amortized cost 3 281 2 394

loss on foreign exchange Fair value through profit and loss 8 329 2 798
other financial expenses Amortized cost 4 277 3 677
total other financial expenses 12 606 6 475

totAl FINANCIAl exPeNSeS 29 541 14 743

Net FINANCIAl INCoMe 14 648 23 055
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nOTe 12
PRoPeRtY, PlANt ANd equIPMeNt

Land Water rights
Plants and  
machinery 

Fixtures and  
fittings, vehicles, 
other equipment total

Book value 1 january 2007  853 4 000 162 626 3 637 171 116
Additions 3 466 259 821 132 732 8 049 404 068
depreciation for the year  0  0 -7 173 - 928 -8 100
Impairment for the year  0  0 - 10 - 172 - 181
effect on change in Functional Currency to uSd - 13 -1 069  557 -2 013 -2 538

Book vAlue 31 deCeMBeR 2007 4 306 262 752 288 733 8 573 564 364

acquisition cost 31 december 2007 4 240 262 663 365 736 14 638 647 277
Accumulated depreciation - 14  0 -82 268 -6 033 -88 315
Accumulated impairment losses  0  0 -1 333 - 172 -1 505
effect on change in Functional Currency to uSd  80  89 6 598  140 6 907

Book vAlue 31 deCeMBeR 2007 4 306 262 752 288 733 8 573 564 364

Book value 1 january 2008 4 306 262 752 288 733 8 573 564 364
Additions 1 991  0 29 480 3 871 35 343
Reclassification  0  0 -4 035 - 691 -4 726
disposals at book value  0 - 675 -3 375 - 115 -4 165
depreciation for the year  0  0 -13 344 -1 978 -15 322

Book vAlue 31 deCeMBeR 2008 6 297 262 077 297 459 9 660 575 493

acquisition cost 31 december 2008 6 316 262 077 398 417 17 813 684 623
Accumulated depreciation - 19  0 -100 958 -8 153 -109 130

Book vAlue 31 deCeMBeR 2008 6 297 262 077 297 459 9 660 575 493

the operations of the la oroya and Pachachaca hydropower plants, which generate 11% of the electroandes’ supply, might be terminated by 
the year end of 2012 due to an agreement with local government. local government plans to use water at the two plants for drinking water, and 
power production must therefore stop. No writedowns have been made in the accounts as of 31 december 2008 due to uncertainty regarding 
the actual termination date. the carrying amount for the above-mentioned plants as of 31 december 2012 is calculated to MuSd 9.
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nOTe 13
INtANGIBle ASSetS

Road and
land rights

Project
development

software
licences total

Book value 1 january 2007  849 1 277  171 2 296
Additions - acquired separately  311 1 866  540 2 717
Reclassification  754  530 - 23 1 261
Amortisation - 158  0 - 55 - 213
effect on change in Functional Currency to uSd  108  0  23  131

Book vAlue 31 deCeMBeR 2007 1 864 3 673  655 6 192

acquisition cost 31 december 2007 4 983 3 673  719 9 375
Accumulated amortisation -3 121  0 - 76 -3 197
effect on change in Functional Currency to uSd  2  0  12  14

Book vAlue 31 deCeMBeR 2007 1 864 3 673  655 6 192

Book value 1 january 2008 1 864 3 673  655 6 192
Additions - acquired separately 5 513 11 157  142 16 812
Reclassification  0 4 726  0 4 726
Amortisation - 25  0 - 106 - 131

Book vAlue 31 deCeMBeR 2008 7 352 19 556  691 27 599

acquisition cost 31 december 2008 11 006 19 556  874 31 436
Accumulated amortisation -3 654  0 - 183 -3 837

Book vAlue 31 deCeMBeR 2008 7 352 19 556  691 27 599

PROjeCT develOPeMenT | Project development costs are capitalised only if future economic benefits from the development of an intangible 
asset are probable.  development costs will be capitalised as part of the construction cost of the plant and depreciation will start when the 
asset is put into operation.

nOTe 14
leASeS

Operational
the lease costs were as follows: 2008 2007
ordinary lease payments 1 908 1 014

the future minimum rents related to non-cancellable leases fall due as follows: 2009 2010-2014 2015 -> total
office lease, lease of office equipment etc 1 088  339  0 1 426
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nOTe 15
FINANCIAl INStRuMeNtS

FaIR value OF FInanCIal InsTRuMenTs | the estimated fair value amounts of the Group’s financial instruments have been determined by 
the Group, using appropriate market information and valuation methodologies. No financial instruments have been identified where book value 
is significantly different from fair value.

the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents is a reasonable estimate of fair value. the fair value of derivatives is the mark-to-market 
value issued by the counterpart in the transaction. the fair value of loans has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flow at 
prevailing interest rates and is not materially different from the balance sheet value.

FOReIgn CuRRenCy RIsk | SN Power Group makes use of currency swaps and forward contracts to hedge currency exposure related to signi-
ficant future cash flows, fair values and net investments in subsidiaries and affiliated companies.  the following table summarizes the Group’s 
hedging instruments:

Cash flow  
hedges

Fair value  
hedges

net investment 
hedges total

Fx Hedge contracts 31 december 2007 - 699 -3 584 -4 283
Fx Hedge contracts 31 december 2008 -3 734 -7 519 6 103 -5 150
Movement in market values of Fx contracts in 2008 -3 035 -7 519 9 687 - 867
Recognized in Income Statement 2008  217 7 519 7 736
Recognised in balance sheet (construction cost) 1 720 1 720
Reclassification from Retained earnings to Hedge Reserve 1 408 1 408
Realized contracts in 2008 -1 088 -1 088
Net ReCoRded AGAINSt equItY -1 098  0 10 007 8 909

Cash FlOw hedges | to hedge currency exposure related to future cash outflows in construction of the wind park in Chile, the project 
company Norvind S.A entered into forward contracts. the future cash flow derives from the payment schedule in euro and Chilean Peso (ClP) 
from the project contractor and forward contracts euR/uSd, ClP/uSd have been entered to hedge the possible currency risk. Cahua has an 
interest Swap  to convert floating rate interest on a loan to fixed interest rate.

Cash flow hedging reserve 1 January 2008 2007
Movement in market value -3 035
Recognised in income statement  217
Recognised in balance sheet (construction cost) 1 720
CASH Flow HedGING ReSeRve 31 deCeMBeR -1 098 –

FaIR value hedges | A loan in Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS of MNok 200 from Statkraft has been hedged by entering into a forward 
contract Nok/uSd.

2008 2007
effect in profit and loss on hedged object 7 642
effect in profit and loss on hedging instrument -7 519
INeFFeCtIve PARt oF HedGING RelAtIoNSHIP  123  –  
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hedgIng OF neT InvesTMenTs | For hedging of net investments the hedged amount will according to group policy vary between 40 and 80% 
of the carrying value of the equity investments with a maturity of 1-10 years. the currency contracts are valued at fair value based on the spot 
elements of the contracts and recorded as hedging. variations in the value of the contracts owing to changes in exchange rates are therefore 
not recorded in the income statement but directly towards equity. the interest elements of the contracts are separated and charged to the 
income statement.

2008 2007
Market value of net investment Fx hedge contracts per 31 december 6 103 -3 584
Interest element expensed in profit and loss 3 281 1 384

nOTe 16
ACCouNtS ReCeIvABleS

2008 2007
trade receivables 15 978 16 191
Provisions for loss on trade accounts receivable - 10 - 28
ACCouNtS ReCeIvABle 15 968 16 163

nOTe 17
otHeR ReCeIvABleS

2008 2007
Prepayments to suppliers 13 757 2 457
earned but not invoiced operating income 21 426 5 242
Current receivable from associated companies 31 961 5 134
other current receivables 3 021 7 161
Settlement account vAt 3 920  693
Prepaid rent  84  0
Accrued interest  487  0
totAl otHeR ReCeIvABleS 74 656 20 687

nOTe 18
CASH ANd CASH equIvAleNtS

specification of cash and cash equivalents 2008 2007

Investments in money market certificates  0 27 860
Bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents 51 839 92 279
Bank deposits – tax restricted 6 298  292
other bank deposits – restricted 134 194 13 693
CASH ANd CASH equIvAleNtS 31 deCeMBeR 2007 192 331 134 124

nOTe 19
SHARe CAPItAl, SHAReHoldeR INFoRMAtIoN ANd dIvIdeNd

share  
Capital

share premium 
reserve

Paid 
 in Capital

equity 1 January 2008 378 774 378 774 757 548
Capital increase 39 290 39 290 78 580
equItY 31 deCeMBeR 2008 418 064 418 064 836 128
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shareholders in statkraft norfund Power Invest As 31 December 2008
number 

of shares
owner and 

voting share
Statkraft AS 11 262 500 50%
Norfund 11 262 500 50%
totAl 22 525 000 100%

No dividends will be paid out for 2008.

nOTe 20
PeNSIoNS ANd otHeR loNG-teRM eMPloYee BeNeFItS 

Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS has pension plans which cover a total of 39 staff members. the pension plan confers the right to defi-
ned future benefits, that mainly depend on the vesting period, the level of pay at retirement and the size of state pension benefits. these 
obligations are partially covered by a closed plan for 7 employees in the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund and through a group pension 
scheme with Nordea liv. In addition, executive employees have a supplementary plan. this plan confers a right to a pension of 66% of the 
salary up to a specific level as from the age of 65 years. the plan requires a 30 year vesting period and is from 2007 and onwards funded by 
the company. due to the change in funding, the scheme is disclosed as an unfunded plan in 2007 and onwards.

transitional effects of changes in assumptions related to the closed plan in the Norwegian Public Service Persion Fund are amortized over 9 
years. the annual effect is tuSd 32. this is based on the average remaining vesting period for the 7 employees covered by this plan.

assuMPTIOns | the following assumptions were used in calculating the current year’s pension costs and liabilities:   

 

2008 2007 
discount rate 4.5% 4.5%
expected rate of return 6.5% 5.5%
Regulation of salary 4.75% 4.5%
Regulation of pension 3.0% 2.0%
Regulation of base rate 4.0% 4.0%
turnover 5.0% 5.0%

Pensions costs Funded Unfunded 2008 2007
Net present value of the current year's pension earnings  415  34  449  511
Interest rate and administrative costs  129  1  130  136
Gross pension costs  544  35  579  647
Return on pension plan assets - 129  0 - 129 - 130
Amortization of past service costs and gains/losses  22  0  22 - 142
Administration costs  10  0  10  12
Accrued social security costs  63  5  68  55
Net PeNSIoN CoStS  511  40  551  442

Pension liabilities Funded Unfunded 2008 2007
Pension liabilities 4 352  89 4 442 3 737
Pension plan assets 2 933  0 2 933 2 805
Calculated pension liabilities 1 419  89 1 509  932
Past service costs - 72  0 - 72 - 125
unrecognised actuarial gains/losses -1 048 - 36 -1 084 - 207
Social security costs  42  8  50  82
Net PeNSIoN lIABIlItIeS  341  61  402  683
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nOTe 21
tAx

tax expense 2008 2007

taxes payable 11 794 5 714
Change in deferred tax liability -4 342 -1 468
tHIS YeAR'S tAx exPeNSeS 7 452 4 246

tax expenses are related to foreign subsidiaries.

taxes payable 2008 2007

Profit before tax 59 406 51 289
Permanent differences -12 078 -31 852
Change in temporary differences 14 584 - 666
tAx BASIS FoR tHe YeAR 61 912 18 771
tax rate 20-29% 30%

Deferred tax 2008 2007

Fixed assets -44 773 -35 203
Pension  987 0
other temporary differences -10 914 -32 214
loss carried forward 16 198 0
temporary differences 31 december -38 502 -67417
tax rate 28-30% 28-30%
Net deFeRRed tAx 31 deCeMBeR 10 507 14 653
deFeRRed tAx lIABIlItY 31 deCeMBeR 13 337 16 105
deFeRRed tAx ASSet 31 deCeMBeR 2 830 1 452
deferred tax benefit not recognized in the balance sheet 15 655 13 761
         
deferred tax benefits not recognised in the balance sheet are related to losses carried forward in Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS. deferred 
tax benefits are recorded on the basis of an expectation of a future taxable profit. the nature of Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS’s opera-
tions implies that future profits will not primarily be taxable. the benefits of deferred tax accordingly cannot be justified for 2008 and have not 
been recognised in the company’s balance sheet.

nOTe 22
PRovISIoNS ANd CoNtINGeNt lIABIlItIeS

Dismantling Claims total

Balance sheet 31 december 2007  461 5 983 6 444
Additions 2008  25  917  942
unused amounts reversed 2008 -4 113 -4 113
BAlANCe SHeet 31 deCeMBeR 2008  486 2 787 3 273

PROvIsIOn FOR dIsManTlIng  (Tusd 486) relates to a provision made for the electroandes’ plants la oroya and Pachachaca hydropower 
plants, which might be taken out of operation in 2012 due to usage of the water for drinking water. 
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PROvIsIOn FOR ClaIMs (Tusd 2 787) is related to tax claims, custom claims and claims from regulators. the reversal of tuSd 4 113 is related 
to provision from 2007 made in electroandes on claims relating to the operations of the National Interconnected System and the manner of 
recalculating firm power.  this claim was subject to a final ruling in the arbitrage court in favour of electroandes and the provision is reversed 
in full.

COnTIngenT lIaBIlITIes | In Chile the construction of the la Higuera hydro plant has been subject to completion delays. on May 5, 2008 the 
project contractor advised the company that they were launching arbitration proceedings in relation to a number of outstanding claims and vari-
ation orders. In october 2008, Hidroelectrica la Higuera S.A. settled the variation order component of the arbitration claim. SN Power manage-
ment considers the remaining claims in the arbitration to be without foundation and as such it is very unlikely that a future liability will arise in 
respect of these items.

the Contractor has also issued legal proceedings against Hidroelectrica la Higuera, Hidroelectrica la Confluencia S.A  and their common parent 
companies including SN Power Chile Inversiones eléctricas limitada relating to the right of first refusal for the construction of the la Confluencia 
power plant. on Nov 27, 2008 the arbitration panel assembled to adjudicate the HlH proceeding ruled unanimously in favor of HlH. the other 
proceedings against HlH and the parent companies are still pending before an ordinary court. Again, management believes that it is very unlikely 
that there will be a future liability with respect to the claims on any of the companies involved.

nOTe 23
loNG-teRM deBt  

Average interest rate 2008 2007

Bond loans in uSd 5.46% 86 956 95 070
Bond loans in PeN 6.0% + vAC 39 597 38 820
Regular loans in subsidiaries 9.21% 33 479 43 474
Subordinate loans in subsidiaries 13.73% 2 255 3 156
Back to Back loan *) 0.1% 120 791
loan from Statkraft 7.38% 28 333  0
SuM 311 411 180 520
Current portion long-term debt -30 710 -13 479
totAl loNG teRM deBt 280 701 167 041

*) Back to Back loan. SN Power Holding, time deposit in Citibank. SN Power Chile Inversiones eléctricas ltda loan in Citibank. Interest margin is 0.1%.

Pledged as seCuRITy | the SN Power Group has only non-recourse debt reported on its balance sheet which is used to fund investments 
and capital expenditure for the construction and acquisition of our power plants at our subsidiaries. this debt is secured by the capital stock in 
certain cases, physical assets, contracts and cash flows of the related subsidiary. the risk is limited to the respective business and is without 
recourse to the parent company, Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS, and other subsidiaries.

the terms of the SN Power Group’s non-recourse debt, which is debt held at subsidiaries, include certain financial and non-financial covenants. 
these covenants are limited to subsidiary activity and vary among the subsidiaries. these covenants may include but are not limited to mainte-
nance of certain reserves, minimum levels of working capital and limitations on incurring additional indebtedness.

As of 31 december 2008 and 2007, approximately MuSd 13.4 and MuSd 13.7, respectively, of restricted cash was maintained in accordance 
with certain covenants of the debt agreements, and these amounts were included in bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents in the accom-
panying consolidated balance sheets. 

various lender and governmental provisions oblige SN Power to pledge its assets in certain subsidiaries as securities for financing. Such restricted 
net assets of subsidiaries amounted to approximately MuSd 381.5 at 31 december 2008 and MuSd 403.8 at 31 december 2007.
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nOTe 24
SPeCIFICAtIoN oF otHeR CuRReNt lIABIlItIeS

other current liabilities 2008 2007

Advances from customers  292  0
Payables to employers and shareholders 2 962 2 859
Accrued salary and vacation expenses 2 639 1 477
Accrued costs and deferred revenue 9 750 8 219
other current liabilities 9 003 4 686
totAl otHeR CuRReNt lIABIlItIeS 24 646 17 240

nOTe 25
tRANSACtIoNS wItH RelAted PARtIeS  

specification of related parties for sn Power group

Related parties for sn Power Group Relation

Statkraft Group owner in Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS
Norfund owner in Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS
Hidroelectrica la Higuera S.A Associate
Hidroelectrica la Confluencia S.A Associate
Nividhu (Pvt) ltd Associate
Malana Power Company ltd Associate
Allain duhangan Hydro Power ltd Associate
SN Aboitiz Power - Magat Inc Associate
Manila-oslo Renewable enterprise, Inc. Associate
SN Aboitiz Power Benguet Inc Associate

other shareholders (Partners) in associates and subsidiaries are not defined as related parties. 

All the transactions with related parties have been carried out as part of the ordinary operations and at arm’s length prices. the most impor-
tant transactions are as follows:

the profit & loss sheet includes the following amounts resulting from transactions with related parties

transaction type Related party 2008 2007

other operating costs Norfund  7  0
other operating costs Statkraft Group 1 871  927
otHeR oPeRAtING CoStS totAl 1 878  927

sales revenues
Sales revenue Statkraft Group  67
Sales revenue Hidroelectrica la Higuera S.A  713  572
Sales revenue Hidroelectrica la Confluencia S.A 2 131  66
Sales revenue Malana Power Company ltd  31
Sales revenue Allain duhangan Hydro Power ltd  129
SAleS ReveNue totAl 3 071  638
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the balance sheet includes the following amounts resulting from transactions with related parties

transaction type Related party 2008 2007

Accounts receivable Statkraft Group  112
Accounts receivable Malana Power Company ltd  30
Accounts receivable Allain duhangan Hydro Power ltd  126
ACCouNtS ReCeIvABle totAl  268  226

other receivables Statkraft Group  58
other receivables Hidroelectrica la Higuera S.A 20 486
other receivables Hidroelectrica la Confluencia S.A 2 033
other receivables SN Aboitiz Power Inc 1 282
other receivables Manilla - oslo Renewable enterprise, Inc 2 808
other receivables SN Aboitiz Power Benguet Inc 5 353
otHeR ReCeIvABleS totAl 32 020 5 134

Accounts payable Statkraft Group  77
ACCouNtS  PAYABle totAl  77 1 356

long-term debt Statkraft Group 29 400
loNG-teRM deBt totAl 29 400  0
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nOTe 26
CHANGeS IN 2007 FIGuReS

SN Power Group changed the reporting currency in the group accounts from Nok to uSd in 2008. Comparative figures have been restated using 
the closing rate (5.4188) for balance sheet items and the average rate (5.8642) for profit and loss items. the Peruvian entities in SN Power Group 
changed functional currency from Peruvian Nuevo Soles (PeN) to uSd. this transition has been treated as a change in accounting principles in 
the group accounts, and comparative figures have been restated.

translated to
UsD Average

Rate 2007
Change in
principle

2007 2007 2007 2007
InCoMe stAteMent (1.000) noK UsD UsD UsD 

oPeRAtING ReveNueS ANd exPeNSeS 5,8642

Sales revenues 464 924 79 281 - 432 78 849
total operating revenues 464 924 79 281 - 432 78 849

Cost of goods sold 31 154 5 313 - 723 4 590
Salary and personnel costs 89 434 15 251 - 48 15 203
ordinary depreciation and amortization 54 116 9 228 - 915 8 313
write-downs 7 457 1 272 -1 090  182
other operating costs 121 641 20 743 1 585 22 328
total operating costs 303 802 51 806 -1 191 50 615

oPeRAtING PRoFIt/loSS 161 122 27 475  759 28 234

FInAnCIAL InCoMe AnD eXPenses

Income from investments in associates 180 438 30 769  0 30 769
Interest income 40 606 6 924 - 63 6 861
other financial income 13 753 2 345 -2 178  167
Interest expenses -51 213 -8 733  465 -8 268
other financial expenses -39 711 -6 772  297 -6 475
Net financial items 143 873 24 534 -1 479 23 055

PRoFIt/loSS BeFoRe tAx 304 995 52 009 - 720 51 289

tax -29 771 -5 077 - 637 -5 714
Changes in deferred tax 5 269  898  569 1 467
tax -24 502 -4 178 - 68 -4 246

Net PRoFIt/loSS FoR tHe YeAR 280 493 47 831 - 788 47 043

Minority interests -59 739 -10 187  0 -10 187
Net PRoFIt FoR tHe YeAR AFteR MINoRItY 220 754 37 644 - 788 36 856
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translated to
UsD closing

rate 2007
Change in
principle

2007 2007 2007 2007
bALAnCe sheet At 31 DeCeMbeR (1 000) noK UsD UsD UsD 

Assets 5,4188

Fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets
deferred tax assets 7 868 1 452  0 1 452
Road and land rights 5 712 1 054  810 1 864
Project development 17 032 3 143  530 3 673
Software licences 3 666  677 - 21  656
total intangible fixed assets 34 278 6 326 1 319 7 645

Tangible fixed assets
land 23 737 4 380 - 74 4 306
water rights 1 429 593 263 821 -1 069 262 752
Plants and machinery 1 574 870 290 631 -1 898 288 733
Fixtures and fittings, vehicles, other equipment  58 119 10 725 -2 153 8 572
total tangible fixed assets 3 086 319 569 558 -5 194 564 364

Financial fixed assets
Investments in associates 1 589 457 293 323  0 293 323
Investments in shares 3 351  618 - 3  615
other long-term receivables 8 693 1 604  210 1 814
total financial fixed assets 1 601 501 295 545  207 295 752

totAl FIxed ASSetS 4 722 098 871 429 -3 668 867 761

Current assets

Spare parts 5 187  957 - 4  953

Receivables
Accounts 87 641 16 174 - 11 16 163
other receivables 114 568 21 143 - 456 20 687
total receivables 202 209 37 316 - 467 36 849

Bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents 728 301 134 403 - 279 134 124
     
totAl CuRReNt ASSetS 935 697 172 676 - 750 171 926

totAl ASSetS 5 657 795 1 044 105 - 4 418 1 039 687
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translated to
UsD closing

rate 2007
Change in
principle

2007 2007 2007 2007
bALAnCe sheet At 31 DeCeMbeR (1 000) noK UsD UsD UsD 

equItY ANd lIABIlItIeS

equity

Paid-in equity
Share capital (20 525 000 shares at Nok 100) 2 052 500  378 774   0  378 774
Share premium reserve 2 052 500  378 774   0  378 774
total paid-in equity 4 105 000  757 548   0  757 548

Retained earnings
other equity - 15 343 - 2 831  2 436 -  395
Minority interests  240 910  44 458   0  44 458
total retained earnings  225 567  41 627  2 436  44 063

totAl equItY 4 330 567  799 175  2 436  801 611

Liabilities

Provisions
Pension commitments  3 700   683   0   683
deferred tax  103 843  19 163 - 3 058  16 105
other long-term provisions  32 892  6 070   374  6 444
total provisions  140 435  25 916 - 2 684  23 232

Other long-term liabilities
Interest-bearing long-term debt  907 711  167 511 -  470  167 041
total other long-term liabilities  907 711  167 511 -  470  167 041

Current liabilities
Current portion long-term debt  75 127  13 864 -  385  13 479
Accounts payable  60 024  11 077 - 4 261  6 816
tax payable  19 104  3 526  1 997  5 523
Public tax payable  2 218   409   53   462
Financial instruments (Fx hedge contracts)  19 419  3 584   699  4 283
other current liabilities  103 190  19 043 - 1 803  17 240
total current liabilities  279 082  51 503 - 3 700  47 803

totAl lIABIlItIeS 1 327 228  244 930 - 6 854  238 076

totAl equItY ANd lIABIlItIeS 5 657 795 1 044 105 - 4 418 1 039 687
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StAtkRAFt NoRFuNd PoweR INveSt AS

InCoMe stAteMent
Figures in UsD 1 000

note 2008 2007

oPeRAtInG ReVenUes AnD eXPenses

Sales revenues 2   2 688 4 891
total operating revenues 2 688 4 891

Salary and personnel costs 3   6 627 5 187
ordinary depreciation and amortization 6    223  54
other operating costs 4   9 950 6 537
total operating costs 16 800 11 778

oPeRAtING PRoFIt/loSS -14 112 -6 887

FInAnCIAL InCoMe AnD eXPenses

Financial income 5 4 587 4 484
Financial expenses 5   -4 626 -15 724
Net financial items - 39 -11 239

PRoFIt/loSS BeFoRe tAx -14 151 -18 126

tax 8   0   0   

Net PRoFIt/loSS FoR tHe YeAR -14 151 -18 126
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StAtkRAFt NoRFuNd PoweR INveSt AS

bALAnCe sheet At 31 DeCeMbeR
Figures in UsD 1 000

         

note 2008 2007

Assets

Fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets  
Project development 6 1 858 1 086
Software licences 6  164  114
total intangible fixed assets 2 022 1 200

Tangible fixed assets
Fixtures and fittings, vehicles, other equipment 6  550  66
total tangible fixed assets  550  66

Financial fixed assets
Investment in subsidiaries 9 786 364 651 390
total financial fixed assets 786 364 651 390

totAl FIxed ASSetS 788 936 652 656

Current assets

Receivables
Accounts receivable  219  139
Intra-group receivables 12 25 243 14 934
other receivables 1 167 7 325
total receivables 26 629 22 398

Cash and cash equivalents 10 10 615 47 921
   
totAl CuRReNt ASSetS 37 244 70 319

totAl ASSetS 826 180 722 975
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StAtkRAFt NoRFuNd PoweR INveSt AS

bALAnCe sheet At 31 DeCeMbeR
Figures in UsD 1 000

2008 2007note

eQUItY AnD LIAbILItIes

equity

Paid-in equity
Share capital 11 418 064 378 774
Share premium reserve 11 418 064 378 774
total paid-in equity 836 128 757 548

Retained earnings
other equity 11 -49 887 -44 335
total retained earnings -49 887 -44 335

totAl equItY 786 241 713 213

Liabilities

Provisions
Pension commitments 7  402  683
total provisions  402  683

Other long-term liabilities
Interest-bearing long-term debt 12 28 333
total other long-term liabilities 28 333  0

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 1 213  977
Intra-group payables 12  39 1 530
Public tax payable  285  469
Financial instruments (Fx hedge contracts) 11 1 416 3 584
other current liabilities 8 251 2 519
total current liabilities 11 204 9 079

totAl lIABIlItIeS 39 939 9 761

totAl equItY ANd lIABIlItIeS 826 180 722 975

OslO, 11 MaRCh 2009
the Board of directors of Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS 

 Siri Hatlen Mark davis tone wille Stein dale
 Chairperson director director director

 tore Haga Rolf Busch Øistein Andresen
 director director President & Chief executive officer
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share capital share premium other equity total equity

At 1 JANuARY 2007 157 324 157 324 -26 366 288 282

Capital increase 221 450 221 450  0 442 900
Foreign currency effects on Fx-hedges recognised directly against equity  0  0 1 647 1 647
Net profit/loss 2007  0  0 -18 126 -18 126
Foreign currency effects on net profit/loss -1 490 -1 490

At 31 deCeMBeR 2007 378 774 378 774 -44 335 713 213

Capital increase 39 290 39 290 78 579
Foreign currency effects on Fx-hedges recognised directly against equity 8 599 8 599
Net profit/loss 2008 -14 151 -14 151

At 31 deCeMBeR 2008 418 064 418 064 -49 887 786 241

stAteMent oF ChAnGes In eQUItY At 31 DeCeMbeR
Figures in UsD 1 000
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2008 2007

CAsh FLoW FRoM oPeRAtIonAL ACtIVItIes

Profit/loss before tax -14 151  -18 126  
tax paid 0  0  
ordinary depreciation 223  54  
Fx hedges in profit and loss with no cash effect 7 519  
difference between this year's pension expense and pension premiums -280  -23  
effect of exchange rate changes -1 486  
Change in accounts receivable -78  -8  
Change in accounts payable 236  278  
Change in intra-group accounts -11 800  -7 476  
Change in other current assets and liabilities 11 705  -4 760  
Net cash flow from operational activities -6 626  -31 547  

CAsh FLoW FRoM InVestMent ACtIVItIes

Investments in tangible and intangible fixed assets -1 529  -610  
Investments in subsidiaries -134 974  -440 227  
Proceeds from realised Fx hedge contracts -1 089  5 890  
Net cash flow from investment activities -137 593  -434 947  

CAsh FLoW FRoM FInAnCInG ACtIVItIes

Change in long-term debt 28 333  
New paid-in equity 78 580  442 900  
Net cash flow from financing activities 106 913  442 900  

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -37 306  -23 594  
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Jan 47 921  71 515  

CASH ANd CASH equIvAleNtS At 31 deC 10 615  47 921  

CAsh FLoW stAteMent
Figures in UsD 1 000
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suMMaRy OF sIgnIFICanT aCCOunTIng POlICIes | the financial state-
ments have been presented in compliance with the regulations regard-
ing simplified IFRS dated 21 January 2008. the financial statements 
consist of the income statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement 
and notes to the accounts. 

the financial statement gives a true and fair view of assets and liabilities, 
financial standing and results.

ClassIFICaTIOn | Assets and liabilities related to the normal operating 
cycle are classified as current assets and current liabilities. Receivables 
and liabilities not related to the normal operating cycle are classified 
as current if they are of a short-term nature, normally due within one 
year. Shares and other investments not intended for continued use or 
ownership are classified as current assets. other assets are classified 
as fixed assets and other liabilities as long-term liabilities.

Revenue ReCOgnITIOn | Sales of services are recorded as income 
when delivered. other operating revenue is recognized to the extent 
that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the company 
and the revenue can be reliably measured.

FOReIgn CuRRenCy | Foreign currency monetary items are converted 
at the closing rate on the date of the balance sheet. Foreign currency 
gains and losses are reported in the income statement under the items 
entitled other financial income or Financial expenses.

the company makes use of currency swaps and forward contracts to 
hedge part of the currency exposure related to investments in subsidi-
aries and associated companies in the SN Power group. the currency 
contracts are valued at fair value based on the spot element of the 
contracts and recorded as hedging instruments. the fluctuation in value 
due to changes in exchange rates is recorded directly against equity. 
the interest element of the contracts is separated and charged to the 
income statement.

InvesTMenTs | Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for using the 
cost method. the investments are recorded at the acquisition price of the 
shares. Impairment is implemented at real value when a fall in value is 
due to reasons that cannot be assumed to be transient and is deemed 
necessary according to generally accepted accounting principles. write-
downs are reversed when there is no longer a basis for depreciation. 
dividends from subsidiaries are taken to income in the parent company 
in the year they are earned and not in the year payment occurs. 

If an appropriation exceeds the proportion of retained profit after 
acquisition, the excess amount represents a repayment of invested 

capital, and the appropriation is deducted from the value of the invest-
ment in the balance sheet. 

TangIBle FIxed asseTs and InTangIBle asseTs | tangible fixed 
assets and intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and write-downs. tangible fixed assets and intangible 
assets with limited useful lives are depreciated over the expected 
useful life. tangible fixed assets and intangible assets are written 
down if the balance sheet value exceeds the recoverable amount. the 
recoverable amount is the higher of net sales value and the present 
value of future cash flows expected to be generated. write-downs are 
reversed if the basis for the write-down is no longer present.

Research costs are expensed as incurred. development costs related to 
project development are capitalised only if future economic benefits from 
the development of an intangible asset are probable. development costs 
will often be capitalised when a construction project is more probable 
than not, but no formal investment decision has yet been made.

leasIng | leasing agreements are classified as financial or operational 
based on the actual content of the agreement. Agreements transfer-
ring substantially all the financial rights and obligations related to the 
leased object to Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS are classified as 
financial. tangible fixed assets held under financial lease agreements 
are recognized in the balance sheet and depreciated over the esti-
mated useful life of the asset. the present value of lease payments is 
included under long-term interest-bearing debt. the debt is reduced by 
the amount of lease payments less the effective interest rate. other 
lease agreements are classified as operational and the annual leasing 
fee is charged to expenses as a leasing expense.

TRade ReCeIvaBles | trade receivables are measured at realizable 
value. Provisions are made for bad debts.

InCOMe Tax | the tax charge is calculated from the profit (loss) before 
tax and comprises current taxes and the change in deferred taxes. 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in accordance with 
the liability method without discounting and provides for all differences 
between the carrying amount in the balance sheet and the tax base of 
assets and liabilities, and for unused tax losses. deferred tax assets 
are recognized only when it is expected that the benefit can be utilized 
through sufficient taxable profits from expected future earnings.

PensIOn COsTs | Pension liabilities related to defined benefit plans are 
measured at the net present value of future pension benefits earned 
on the balance sheet date and calculated on the basis of assumptions 
for, among others, the discount rate, expected future wage growth 

notes
Figures in UsD 1 000

nOTe 1
ACCouNtING PolICIeS
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and pension adjustments. Plan assets are measured at fair value. 
Net pension liabilities related to under-funded plans are recorded as 
provisions, while the net assets of over-funded plans are recorded 
under financial fixed assets. Net pension expenses, which are gross 
pension expenses less the expected return on plan assets adjusted 
for past service costs and the effects of changes in estimates, are 
included under personnel expenses. Changes in pension liabilities 
due to amendments in pension plans are included in net pension 
expenses over the vesting period or immediately if the benefits are 
immediately vested. Changes in pension liabilities and plan assets, 
due to changes in and deviations from the calculation assumptions, 

are included under net pension expenses over the average remaining 
working lives of participants for that part of the accumulated effect 
that exceeds 10% of the greater of plan assets or pension liabilities. 
In the case of pension plans that are defined as contribution plans for 
accounting purposes the premiums are charged to pension expenses 
for the period.

Cash FlOw sTaTeMenT | the cash flow statement is prepared using 
the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank 
deposits and other monetary instruments with a maturity of less than 
three months at the date of purchase.
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nOTe 2 
SAleS ReveNueS

by business area 2008 2007

Services 2 688 4 891
totAl 2 688 4 891

by geographical market 2008 2007

Norway  32  70
latin America  904 2 210
Asia 1 752 1 639
Africa  0  972
totAl 2 688 4 891

nOTe 3  
eMPloYee BeNeFIt exPeNSeS ANd MANAGeMeNt ReMuNeRAtIoN

salary and personnel costs 2008 2007

Salary expenses 4 920 3 142
Social security costs 1 001  600
Pension costs (note 7)  551  442
other employee benefits  76  88
other personnel costs  79  915
totAl SAlARY ANd PeRSoNNel CoStS 6 627 5 187

Average number of man-years 2008 2007

SN Power Invest AS 38 26

ReMuneRaTIOn TO leadIng eMPlOyees | the Chief executive officer received a salary of Nok 1 489 779 (uSd 263 818), paid pension 
premium of Nok 15 111 (uSd 2 676) and other renumeration of Nok 126 784 (uSd 22 452) in 2008. the average 2008 rate was used 
when converting Nok to uSd. there are no contingent liabilities related to end of employment. No remuneration has been paid by Statkraft 
Norfund Power Invest AS to any of its directors in 2008.

Auditor 2008 2007

Fees to ernst & Young for audit and audit-related services  87  42
Fees to ernst & Young for other services  58  26
totAl FeeS to eRNSt & YouNG  145  68
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nOTe 4  
otHeR oPeRAtING CoStS

2008 2007

leasing premises  652  439
external services 4 248 3 255
travel expenses 1 853 1 219
other costs 3 198 1 624
otHeR oPeRAtING CoStS 9 950 6 537

nOTe 5 
FINANCIAl INCoMe ANd exPeNSeS

Financial income 2008 2007

Interest income 1 671 4 484
Gain on foreign exchange 10 435  0
Fx hedges -7 519  0
FINANCIAl INCoMe 4 587 4 484

Financial expenses 2008 2007

Interest expenses Statkraft loan 1 216  0
Foreign exchange differences  0 12 914
other financial expenses  119  13
Interest element on foreign exchange contracts 3 291  0
Change in market value on foreign exchange contracts  0 2 797
FINANCIAl exPeNSeS 4 626 15 724

 
FunCTIOnal CuRRenCy | Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS’ functional currency and reporting currency was Norwegian kroner (Nok) in 2007. 
From 2008 and onwards, both reporting currency and functional currency have been changed to uSd. the reason for uSd as reporting currency 
is change in reporting currency to uSd for SN Power Group. the reason for change in functional currency is due to the fact that most of the 
Group’s activities are in uSd. Hedging strategy in Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS has also been changed to reflect this.
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nOTe 6
FIxed ASSetS

tangible assets Furnitures, office Fixtures office equipment total

acquisition cost at 1 january 2008  26  191  217
Additions  483  159  641
disposals  0  0  0
ACquISItIoN CoSt At 31 deCeMBeR 2008  509  349  858
Accumulated amortization at 31 december 2007 - 95 - 212 - 308
Book vAlue At 31 deCeMBeR 2008  413  137  550
Amortization for the year  87  70  157

estimated economic life 3–10 yrs 3–10 yrs
depreciation method linear linear

Intangible assets Project Development* software Licences total

acquisition cost at 1 january 2008 1 086  161 1 247
Additions  772  116  888
disposals  0  0  0
ACquISItIoN CoSt At 31 deCeMBeR 2008 1 858  277 2 134
Accumulated amortization at 31 december 2007 - 113 - 113
Book vAlue At 31 deCeMBeR 2008 1 858  164 2 022
Amortization for the year  0  66  66

estimated economic life N/A 3 - 5 yrs
depreciation method N/A linear

*  the category Project developement above includes capitalised costs on projects that have a probability of more than 50% of being carried out, but where the formal decision has not been 

made yet. when the formal decision to carry out the investment has been made, the costs will in most cases be invoiced and capitalised in the project developement company.
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nOTe 7 
PeNSIoNS

Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS has pension plans which cover a total of 39 staff members and comply with Norwegian legislation on mandatory 
pension. the pension plan confers the right to defined future benefits, that mainly depends on the vesting period, the level of pay at retirement 
and the size of state pension benefits. these obligations are partially covered by a closed plan for 7 employees in the Norwegian Public Service 
Pension Fund and through a group pension scheme with Nordea liv. In addition, executive employees have a supplementary plan. this plan 
confers the right to a pension of 66% of the salary up to a specific level as from the age of 65 years. the plan requires a 30 year vesting period 
and is from 2007 and onwards funded by the company. due to the change in funding, the scheme is disclosed as an unfunded plan in 2007.

transitional effects of changes in assumptions related to the closed plan in the Norwegian Public Service Persion Fund is amortized over 9 years. 
the annual effect is tuSd 32. this is based on the average remaining vesting period for the 7 employees covered by this plan. 

assuMPTIOns | the following assumptions were used in calculating the current year’s pension costs and liabilities:

2008 2007 

discount rate 4.5% 4.5%
expected rate of return 6.5% 5.5%
Regulation of salary 4.75% 4.5%
Regulation of pension 3.0% 2.0%
Regulation of base rate 4.0% 4.0%
turnover 5.0% 5.0%

Pensions costs Funded Unfunded 2008 2007

Net present value of the current year's pension earnings  415  34  449  511
Interest rate and administrative costs  129  1  130  136
Gross pension costs  544  35  579  647

Return on pension plan assets - 129  0 - 129 - 130
Amortization of past service costs and gains/losses  22  0  22 - 142
Administration costs  10  0  10  12
Accrued social security costs  63  5  68  55
Net PeNSIoN CoStS  511  40  551  442

Pension liabilities Funded Unfunded 2008 2007

Pension liabilities 4 352  89 4 441 3 737
Pension plan assets 2 933  0 2 933 2 805
Calculated pension liabilities 1 419  89 1 508  932

Past service cost - 72  0 - 72 - 125
unrecognised actuarial gains/losses -1 048 - 36 -1 084 - 207
Social security cost  42  7  49  82
Net PeNSIoN lIABIlItIeS  341  60  402  683
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nOTe 8  
INCoMe tAx

taxes payable 2008 2007

Profit before tax -14 151 -18 126
Permanent differences  23  80
Changes in temporary differences - 280  90
tAx BASIS FoR tHe YeAR -14 408 -17 956
tax rate 28% 28%

Tax payable       
Changes in capitalized deferred tax assets 0   0   
Changes in capitalized deferred tax liabilities  0   0   
tHIS YeAR’S tAx exPeNSe  0   0   
 

Deferred tax 2008 2007

Fixed assets - 37 - 37
Pensions - 402 - 683
Financial investments  955  955
tax loss carried forward -58 661 -44 253
temporary differences at 31 december -58 145 -44 018
tax rate 28% 28%

deFeRRed tAx ASSet At 31 deC 08  –   –

deferred tax assets are recognised based on an expectation about a future taxable profit.  Based on Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS’s opera-
tions, future income will primarily not be taxable. Accordingly, deferred tax assets cannot be utilized in 2008 and have not been recognized in 
the company’s balance sheet.

nOTe 9 
lISt oF SuBSIdIARIeS

The following subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements:

Company
Date of 
establ.

business
 office

Country of 
registration

Main 
operations

Parent 
company

Voting 
share

ownership 
share

SN Power Holding AS 27 May 03 oslo Norway Investment
Statkraft Norfund 
Power Invest AS 100% 100%

Shares in subsidiaries are recorded in accordance with the cost method in the balance sheet of Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS. Paid in capital 
to SN Power Holding AS was Nok 4 458 410 000 corresponding to uSd 786 364 051 at 31 december 2008.
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nOTe 10 
GuARANteeS, CASH ANd CASH equIvAleNtS etC.

guaRanTees | Guarantees for projects under development amount to 21.4 MuSd.

Cash and cash equivalents 2008 2007

Specification of cash and cash equivalents
Cash in hand and at bank 10 317 47 630
Restricted bank deposits - witholding tax employees  298  292
CASH ANd CASH equIvAleNtS IN tHe BAlANCe SHeet 10 615 47 921

nOTe 11
SHARe CAPItAl, SHAReHoldeR INFoRMAtIoN ANd Fx HedGe CoNtRACtS

share capital share premium other equity total equity

equity at 1 January 2007 378 774 378 774 -44 335 713 213
Capital increase 39 290 39 290 78 580
Foreign currency translation effects on Fx-hedges 8 599 8 599
this year's net profit/loss -14 151 -14 151
equItY At 31 deCeMBeR 2008 418 064 418 064 -49 887 786 241

Nominal value per share is Nok 100. All issued shares have equal voting rights and are equally entitled to dividends.

Fx hedge COnTRaCTs | Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS makes use of currency swaps and forward contracts to hedge part of the currency 
exposure related to the investment in subsidiaries and associated companies in SN Power Group. the currency contracts are valued at fair 
value based on the spot element of the contracts and recorded as hedging. variations in the value of the contracts owing to changes in 
exchange rates are therefore not recorded in the income statement but directly against other equity. 

the interest elements of the contracts are separated and charged to the income statement. For 2008 this amounted to tuSd 3 281.

2008 2007

Fx Hedge contracts at 2007 -3 584  659
Fx Hedge contracts at 2008 -1 416 -3 584
Movement in market values of Fx contracts in 2008 2 168 -4 242
Movement in market values of Fx contracts recognized in income statement 2008 7 519  0
Realized contracts in 2008 -1 088 5 890
ReCoRded AGAINSt otHeR equItY 8 599 1 647
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shareholders at 31.12.08
number 

of shares 
owner and 

voting share

Statkraft AS 11 262 500 50%
Norfund 11 262 500 50%
totAl 22 525 000 100%

No dividends will be paid for 2008.
Statkraft AS purchased an additional 10% share in Statkraft Norfund Power Invest AS in January 2009 and increased their owner share to 
60%.

nOTe 12 
tRANSACtIoNS wItH RelAted PARtIeS

2008 2007

Intercompany short-term receivables
SN Power Holding AS 9 000 13 000
SN Power Holding Singapore Pte. ltd. 5 194 1 161
Himal Power ltd.  0  101
SN Power Peru Holding S.R.l  174  120
empresa de Generacion electrica Cahua S.A.  61  51
SN Power Chile Inversiones electricas ltda. 10 489  501
Norvind S.A.  325  0
totAl 25 243 14 934

2008 2007

Intercompany short-term payables
SN Power Peru Holding S.R.l  13  0
empresa de Generacion electrica Cahua S.A.  26  0
SN Power Holding AS  0 1 530
totAl  39 1 530

2008 2007

Interest-bearing long-term debt
Statkraft AS 28 333  0
totAl  28 333
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